

Currimundi State School

Student Code of Conduct



Reviewed 2 June 2025

Every student succeeding

Every student succeeding is the shared vision of Queensland state schools. Our vision shapes regional and school planning to ensure every student receives the support needed to belong to the school community, engage purposefully in learning and experience academic success.

Queensland Department of Education

Uncontrolled copy. Refer to the Department of Education Policy and Procedure Register

at http://ppr.det.qld.gov.au/ to ensure you have the most current version of this document.

Purpose

Currimundi State School is unique in many ways, not least for its idyllic location on the shores of the beautiful Dicky Beach on the Sunshine Coast. The school's unique coastal environment is used as a basis for building a shared vision for learning. Our school vision, "Riding The Waves To Success" sums up our belief that all students can achieve and enjoy personal success. We focus our efforts on empowering students through the promotion and development of 21st Century skills based around hope, resilience and well-being. Through this medium, linked to knowledge and skill development, we encourage our students to be creative and reflective thinkers, effective communicators, active social participants, keen investigators and problem solvers.

The Student Code of Conduct supports the provision of a safe and productive learning environment for all through creating conditions for each learner to progress towards responsible self-management, whilst learning about how and why people behave the way they do, so that students can participate positively in the school community.

Its' purpose is to facilitate high standards of behaviour from all in the school community, ensuring learning and teaching in our school is prioritised, where all students are able to experience success and staff enjoy working in a positive safe environment.

Contact Information

| Postal address: | 17 Buderim Street, Currimundi, Queensland, 4551 | | | | |
|-------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Phone: | 5436 6888 | | | | |
| Email: | administration@currimundiss.eq.edu.au | | | | |
| School website address: | https://currimundiss.eq.edu.au | | | | |
| | Jill Pass – Principal | | | | |
| Contact Person: | Amanda Brewer – P-2 Deputy Principal Bettina Houtsma – Yrs 3-6 Deputy Principal | | | | |

Endorsement

| Principal Name: | Jill Pass – Principal | |
|---|-----------------------|--|
| Principal Signature: | | |
| Tillian Pass | | |
| Date: 27/6/25 | | |
| P/C President and-or School Council Chair Name: | Karleigh Wood | |
| P/C President and-or School Council Chair Signature: | tabus | |
| Date: 27/06/2025 | | |

Contents

| Purpose | 2 |
|--|----|
| Principal's Foreword | 6 |
| Data Overview | 7 |
| Consultation | 9 |
| Learning and Behaviour Statement | 10 |
| Student Wellbeing and Support Network | 11 |
| Student Support Network | 12 |
| Whole School Approach to Discipline | 14 |
| Reinforcement to Encourage Appropriate behaviour Choices | 14 |
| Behaviour Support – Tiered System | 17 |
| Consideration of Individual Circumstances | 22 |
| Process for Dealing with Unacceptable Behaviour | 23 |
| Examples of Routine, Minor and Major Problem Behaviours | 25 |
| Consequences of Unacceptable Behaviour | 26 |
| Strategies to Deal with Unacceptable Behaviour | 27 |
| Classroom Management – Ensuring Consistent Responses | 28 |
| Use of School Disciplinary Absences (SDA) | 29 |
| Differentiated and Explicit Teaching | 31 |
| Focussed Teaching | 31 |
| Intensive Teaching | 32 |
| School Policies and Procedures | 33 |
| Temporary removal of student property | 34 |
| Use of mobile phones and other devices by students | 36 |
| Preventing and responding to incidents of bullying | 39 |
| Reporting Bullying | 41 |



| Responding to Bullying Prevention of Bullying and Educating Responding to Bullying – Flowchart Keeping Currimundi State School Safe | 41 41 43 44 |
|--|----------------------|
| Complaints about Bullying | 45 |
| Restrictive Practices | 49 |
| Critical Incidents | 50 |
| Related Procedures and Guidelines | 52 |
| Complaints | 53 |
| Legislative Delegations | 54 |
| Legislation | 54 |
| Related Policies and Procedures | 54 |
| Other Related Resources | 54 |
| Delegations | 55 |
| Appendices | 56 |
| Appendix 1 - Currimundi State School Procedures – Staff and Students | 56 |
| Appendix 2 - CURRA Kid Expectation Matrix | 57 |
| Appendix 3 - Green tickets for 'In class' rewards | 58 |
| Appendix 4 - Blue tickets for around school rewards | 59 |
| Appendix 5 - Super Surfer certificates | 60 |
| Appendix 6 - Movement through the tiered and levelled system | 61 |
| Appendix 7 - Routine, minor and major behaviours | 62 |
| Appendix 8 – Minor Behaviour Incident Grey Card Notification | 63 |
| Appendix 9 – Behaviour Concern 3 Grey Cards Reflection Notification | 64 |
| Appendix 10 – Major Behaviour Incident Reflection Notification | 65 |
| Appendix 11 - Behaviour reflection sheet | 66 |
| Appendix 12 - Positive Choices Tracker | 67 |
| Appendix 13 - Play plan | 69 |
| Appendix 14 - Re-entry from suspension plan | 71 |
| Appendix 15 - Flowchart: Suspensions | 72 |
| Appendix 16 - Bullying response flowchart for teachers | 75 |
| Appendix 17 - Deciding a reasonable time to retain or make property available for collection | 76 |



Principal's Foreword

Riding the waves to success

The vision statement for Currimundi State School, "Riding The Waves To Success" has many meanings for the students of our school, particularly as we are situated in a unique beachside location. Our vision was created to appeal to the students by making parallels to their coastal lives.

The waves never stop rolling in to the shore. Some days they may be huge waves; other days they may be just a slight swell or a mere ripple. Just like the constancy of the waves, our vision promotes to students that learning is a continuous life long process. Sometimes learning experiences may be steep and demanding (these are the big waves), while at other times we may hardly realise that learning is taking place (these are the little ripples).

Surfers need to pick a wave to surf which has the right height, speed and intensity for the surfer's skill level. If a beginner has to face a huge wave, they will be wiped out and they will not feel success from this experience. At our school, individual student needs are recognised and catered for. Learning activities are provided to meet the needs of students according to student abilities, preferred learning styles and interest areas.

We need to always have a go and if we make a mistake, we learn new knowledge from the mistake and we are then ready to have another go equipped with improved understanding. This verse reflects what we mean by having a go: Don't sit on the shoreline, feeling satisfied. Choose to catch a wave. Dare to take the ride.

Our school's vision, "Riding The Waves To Success", tells all students that they can all have success. That success takes many different forms and we need to value and celebrate all successes. At Currimundi Sate School, there will always be learning waves there for us to ride, we need to be confident to have go and accept that we will fall off from time to time. The lifesavers, our teachers, will make sure that the conditions are right for us to dive straight into our learning waves.

Currimundi State school staff take an educative approach to discipline, that behaviour can be taught and that mistakes are opportunities for everyone to learn. Our Student Code of Conduct provides an overview of the school's local policies on use of mobile phones and other technology, removal of student property and the approach to preventing and addressing incidents of bullying. It also details the steps school staff take to educate students about these policies and how students are explicitly taught the expected behaviours. Finally, it details the consequences that may apply when students breach the expected standards of behaviour, including the use of suspension or exclusion.

I thank the students, teachers, parents and other members of the community for their work in bringing this Code of Conduct together over the last six months. Your interest and views shared through the process of developing this document have been invaluable. It provides a clear explanation of what we expect from students and how we will support them to meet those expectations.



Data Overview

The Parent, Student and Staff Satisfaction data in the tables below is drawn from the School Opinion Survey 2024. The School Opinion Survey is an annual collection designed to obtain the views of parents/caregivers, students and school staff from each school on what they do well and how they can improve.

Opinions on the school, student learning, and student wellbeing are sought from a parent/caregiver in all families and a sample of students from each state school.

Opinions on the school as a workplace are sought from all school staff and principals. There are additional questions for teaching staff on their confidence to teach and improve student outcomes. Principals are also asked about their confidence to lead the school and improve student outcomes.

Currimundi State School uses the departments OneSchool database as a mechanism for storing all information about a child and their registration at our school. All incidents of negative behaviour and any consequences are recorded on OneSchool – as is attedance data, positive certificates and school outcomes. Parents are able to access records held on OneSchool. Information about accessing records, reports or timetables is provided here:

Agreement

98.9

96.6

https://www.qld.gov.au/education/schools/information/contact/pages/accessing.

Teachers at this school expect my child to do their best.

I understand how my child is assessed at this school.

Most positive items

Highlights report for (1868) Currimundi State School, 2024

| 90 Parents and Caregivers |
|------------------------------|
| (20.9%) participated. |





| This school celebrates student achievements. | 96.6 |
|--|-----------|
| | |
| Most positive items | Agreement |
| My teachers expect me to do my best. | 97.5 |
| I can access computers and other technologies at my school for learning. | 96.8 |
| My school encourages students to respect one another. | 96.7 |
| Most positive items | Agreement |
| I use the Australian Curriculum (P-10) and/or Queensland senior syllabuses (11-12) for planning teaching, learning and assessment. | 100.0 |
| Students are encouraged to do their best at this school. | 100.0 |
| I modify my teaching practice after reviewing student assessment data. | 100.0 |

| Agreement |
|-----------|
| 82.5 |
| 82.6 |
| 84.3 |
| |

| Least positive items | Agreement |
|--|-----------|
| I am interested in my schoolwork. | 70.4 |
| My school treats students equally, regardless of gender. | 71.3 |
| I feel accepted by other students at my school. | 73.8 |

| Least positive items | Agreement |
|--|-----------|
| I have access to relevant professional development. | 63.8 |
| I am supported to manage the pressures of my workload. | 69.4 |
| This school takes staff opinions seriously. | 70.8 |

Agreement presents the aggregation of positive responses as a percentage; i.e.: "Somewhat agree", "Agree", and "Strongly agree". The most positive items and least positive items are chosen according to strength of agreement. In some circumstances, there may be more survey items of equal agreement to those shown. Please refer to the relevant section of this report for further detail The response rate shown is indicative only. It is based on the number of individuals who were invited to participate.



Highlights report for (1868) Currimundi State School, 2024 (continued)

| | Parent/Caregiver Agreement | | | Student Agreement | | | Staff Agreement | | | | | |
|---|-------------------------------|----------------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------|----------------|----------------------|-----------|----------------|----------------|----------------------|-----------|
| | Your school | Your region | QId state schools | Last year | Your school | Your region | QId state schools | Last year | Your school | Your region | Qld state schools | Last year |
| Common items | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| student behaviour is well managed | 90.0 | 10.1 | 9.7 | -0.4 | 88.0 | 23.2 | 25.0 | 14.6 | 72.9 | -2.1 | -1.5 | -19.2 |
| students are treated fairly | 93.3 | 6.0 | 5.8 | 2.0 | 80.0 | 7.2 | 6.6 | 3.0 | 87.5 | -1.5 | -1.0 | -8.6 |
| expectations and rules are clear | 95.6 | 3.2 | 3.0 | 0.3 | 92.0 | -0.6 | -0.2 | 3.1 | 81.3 | -6.0 | -6.5 | -12.9 |
| respectful student relationships fostered | 94.4 | 7.1 | 6.0 | 0.3 | 96.7 | 7.7 | 7.6 | 10.3 | 97.9 | 7.0 | 6.7 | -2.1 |
| gender equality at school | 91.8 | 1.6 | 1.6 | -1.7 | 71.3 | 1.7 | -0.2 | 2.8 | 97.8 | 3.2 | 3.1 | -0.1 |
| this is a good school | 95.5 | 4.8 | 4.7 | -1.7 | 93.4 | 14.3 | 13.9 | 9.2 | 98.0 | 6.3 | 6.8 | 0.0 |
| opinions are taken seriously | 82.5 | 1.5 | 1.5 | -4.0 | 82.0 | 14.1 | 13.6 | 12.4 | 70.8 | -6.6 | -6.7 | -16.9 |
| like being at school | 89.9 | 1.7 | 0.4 | -2.6 | 82.0 | 10.5 | 8.9 | 4.5 | 100.0 | 9.0 | 9.2 | 2.0 |
| feel safe at school | 94.4 | 6.7 | 6.0 | 2.0 | 90.2 | 8.5 | 8.8 | 7.8 | 89.8 | 1.8 | 2.1 | -8.2 |
| students are interested in school work | 89.8 | 4.8 | 4.0 | -1.6 | 70.4 | 5.7 | 4.7 | 9.5 | 97.1 | 13.4 | 13.9 | -2.9 |

In the SOS survey, the overwhelming trend is one of support, with the vast majority of opinions in the 90's. In most cases Currimundi SS is trending at a similar level to like regional schools and like Qld state Schools.



Consultation

The consultation process used to inform the development of the Currimundi State School Student Code of Conduct occurred in several phases throughout the second part of the 2023, 2024 academic years and into 2025.

In the first phase, we held a series of meetings involving the Behaviour team where the current process and practice was discussed and evaluated. Behaviour data was shared and discussed as well as areas for improvement. The findings of these meetings was disseminated to staff by the teaching colleagues who are a part of the committee.

In the second phase, we provided a survey to all parents/carers and staff on school culture and climate, process and policy. This included some closed questions to gather initial feelings and a request to respond to key themes about strengths and areas for further development.

A selection of students were also involved in behaviour based discussions, again focusing on the positives from our current school behaviour plan and areas where they felt improvements could be made.

A draft Student Code of Conduct (badged as an updated Responsible Behaviour Plan) was prepared and distributed to the Behaviour committee and executive group for discussion and feedback. This was also presented to the P&C at a meeting term 1 of the 2024 academic year. A staff meeting was held to discuss the proposed changes and comments invited.

A revised Student Code of Conduct was prepared for the start of Term 1 2025 to ensure that the current practice in the classroom and the school was embedded in policy. This has now been revised and amended to create the Student Code of Conduct.

A communication strategy has been developed to support the implementation of the Currimundi State school Student Code of Conduct, promotion through school website, and our 3 publications a term newsletter. Any families who require assistance to access a copy of the Student Code of Conduct, including translation to a suitable language, are encouraged to contact the Principal.

Review Statement

The Currimundi State School Student Code of Conduct will undergo annual minor updates to reflect changing circumstances, data and staff. A fulsome review is conducted every four years in line with the schedule process for the School Planning, Reviewing and Reporting cycle.

Further information can be sought from the school office/Principal.



Student Wellbeing and Support Network

Currimundi State School offers a range of programs and services to support the wellbeing of students in our school. We encourage parents and students to speak with their class teacher or to make an appointment to meet with the Deputy Principals if they would like individual advice about accessing particular services.

Learning and well-being are inextricably linked – students learn best when their wellbeing is optimised, and they develop a strong sense of wellbeing when they experience success in learning. Our school has fostered a positive school culture and is embedding student wellbeing in all aspects of school life through connecting the learning environment, curriculum and pedagogy, policies, procedures and partnerships for learning and life.

Curriculum and pedagogy

At Currimundi we acknowledge the positive impact that a meaningful relationship between teacher and student can have on students' academic and social outcomes. As part of the whole school's curriculum we provide age-appropriate education and training around physical and social developments and changes they encounter during their primary school life.

School build foundations for wellbeing and lifelong learning through curriculum embedding <u>personal and social capabilities</u> (self-awareness, self-management, social awareness and social management) in the implementation of the <u>P-12 curriculum</u>, <u>assessment and reporting framework</u> of which we deliver the P-6 elements.

Policy and expectations

Within a school community there are specific health and wellbeing issues that will need to be addressed by the whole school, specific students, or in certain circumstances.

Specialised health needs

Currimundi State School works closely with parents to ensure students with specialised health needs, including those requiring specialised health procedures, have access to a reasonable standard of support for their health needs whilst attending school or school-based activities.

This means that appropriate health plans are developed and followed for students with specialised health needs, that staff are aware of the student's medical condition and that an appropriate number of staff have been trained to support the student's health condition.

Medications

Currimundi State School requires parent consent and medical authorisation to administer any medication (including overthe-counter medications) to students. For students requiring medications to be administered during school hours, the school can provide further information and relevant forms.

For students with a long-term health condition requiring medication, parents need to provide the school with a <u>Request to</u> <u>administer medication at school</u> form signed by the prescribing health practitioner.

Currimundi State school maintains a minimum of two adrenaline auto-injector and asthma reliever/puffer, stored in the school's/campus first aid kit to provide emergency first aid medication if required.



Learning and Behaviour Statement

At Currimundi State School, our aim is to create a learning environment where every member of the school community is able to function to the best of his/her ability and feel safe and secure to support each other in "Riding the Waves to Success".

Because we focus on catering for individual differences, we realise that all children will move towards this goal at their own pace and that they will also have individual needs along the way. In line with our school vision, "Riding the Waves to Success', we recognise and value all contributions and personal successes.

The use of a non-coercive approach that builds relationships, acceptance of others and encourages self-evaluation is evident in all we do. Through the provision of quality educational experiences, our students are prepared to shape and participate in new and complex social, cultural and economic futures.

Staff and students at Currimundi State School have the right to work to their potential, free from disruption, abuse or threat in a safe and supportive environment. In line with Education Queensland's Code of School Behaviour, all members of school communities are expected to conduct themselves in a lawful, ethical, safe and responsible manner that recognises and respects the rights of others.

Our school rules have been agreed upon and endorsed by all staff and our school P & C Association. They are aligned with the values, principles and expected standards outlined in Education Queensland's Code of School Behaviour. Code of School Behaviour.pdf

The school places a high emphasis on the well-being of our students, our staff and our community, we want all people in our school to be happy, healthy and content. We also actively teach and encourage our students to be "CURRA KIDS':

We teach what it means to be a 'Curra Kid'

| С | = | Caring |
|---|---|-----------------|
| U | = | You the Student |
| R | = | Respect |
| R | = | Responsible |
| A | = | Active Learner |
| | | |



Governmen

Mental Health

Currimundi State School implements early intervention measures where teachers and support staff are encouraged to talk with Deputy Principals and or Principal to raise any concerns involving mental health and well-being of a child. The HOSES will be involved in stakeholder discussions along with the school Guidance Officer.

Suicide/Self harm prevention

Currimundi State School staff who notice self-harm or suicide warning signs in a student should seek help immediately from the Deputy Principal or Principal.

When dealing with a mental health crisis, school should call 000 when there is an imminent threat to the safety of the student in the first instance, and where necessary provide first aid. In all other situations, Currimundi State school staff should follow suicide intervention and prevention advice by ensuring:

- The student is not left along
- Their safety and the safety of other students and staff is maintained
- Students receive appropriate support immediately
- Parents are advised
- All actions are documented and reported

Suicide prevention

In the case of a suicide of a student that has not occurred on school grounds, Currimundi State School enacts a positive response, by communicating with the family of the student and ensuring immediate support is provided to students and staff who may be affected.

Where a suicide has occurred on school grounds or at a school event, Currimundi State School Staff immediately enact the School Emergency Management Plan and communicate with the family of the student and ensure immediate support is provided to students and staff who may be affected.

Student Support Network

Currimundi State School is proud to have a comprehensive Student Support Network in place to help the social, emotional and physical wellbeing of every student. In addition to the assistance provided by class teachers, we have a team of professions whose dedicate roles are to help ensure our school is an inclusive, nurturing environment.

Student can approach any trusted school staff member at Currimundi State School to seek assistance or advice. If they are unable to assist, they will provide guidance and help ensure the student is connected to the appropriate representative of the Student Support Network.

The information in the table on the following page, highlights the support networks available and the roles that they perform within the school and the local community.

Parents/Carers who would like more information about the student support roles and responsibilities are invited to contact the relevant Deputy Principal.



| Role | What they do |
|------------------------|--|
| Well-Being Officer | Provides individual and, at times, group support to students to assist their engagement with education Support students to overcome barriers to education such as, but not limited to: Attendance at school Friendships Family issues Bereavement Relationships/social skills Conflict with family/peers/teachers Social/emotional/physical well-being. Run well-being activities within and outside of the curriculum Provide individual and family support to school families to assist in the engagement in education of their children Provide individual and family support to school families in social or economic difficulties. |
| Guidance Officer | Provides a comprehensive student support program with the school environment offering counselling with students on a one-on-one basis or in a group setting Assists students with specific difficulties, acting as a mediator or providing information on other life skills Liaises with parents/carer, teachers, or other external health providers as needed as part of the counselling process. |
| School Psychologist | • Psychologists employed through the wellbeing workforce use their professional knowledge of psychological interventions and treatments to deliver evidence-based, tailored therapeutic intervention to support students' mild to moderate mental health concerns. |
| School-Based Youth Hea | Provides individual health consultations with assessment, support, health information and referral options related to: Healthy eating and exercise Relationships Personal and family problems Feeling sad, worried and angry Sexual health Smoking, alcohol and other drugs. Works with school staff to build their competence and confidence to safely manage procedures and interventions required by students with specialised health needs Provides assessment, health management planning, training and ongoing support and supervision for students with specialised health needs. |

It is also important for students and parents/carers to understand there are regional and state wide support services also available to supplement the school network. These include Principal Advisor Student Protection, Mental Health Coach, Autism Coach, Inclusion Coach, Success Coach, Advisory Visiting Teachers and Senior Guidance Officers.

For more information about these services and their roles, please speak with the relevant Deputy Principal or the school office.



Whole School Approach to Discipline

We place a high emphasis in the school on establishing and developing a positive culture throughout our learning community. The first step in developing a positive culture is by staff demonstrating it in all we do. We actively communicate these standards to all students with our words and actions. At Currimundi State School we emphasise the importance of directly teaching and demonstrating to students the behaviours and expectations we want them to demonstrate at school. We emphasise and reinforce positive choices and expectations as a strategy designed to prevent problem behaviours and underpin it with a framework for responding to unacceptable behaviours.

Our whole school approach supports the provision of a safe and supportive learning environment through:

- Open communication with the school community on key strategies, including the school's Student Code of Conduct.
- Shared school values and a positive and inclusive culture that recognises the contributions of all members of the school community.
- Establishment of agreed programs and procedures that address harassment, bullying, violence and child protection that are known and understood by all members of the school community.
- Management of incidents via clear and well-understood processes, community engagement and strong relationships with relevant support specialists.
- Maintain positive behaviours through class / playground expectations and procedures.
- Modified curriculum experiences to meet individual student needs.
- Induct new staff to develop knowledge and understanding of Currimundi's Student Code of Conduct through the mentor teachers.
- Talk to new students on induction about the Student Code of Conduct and how they will interact with it.
- Model and practice appropriate behaviours.

We expect that the vast majority of our students at Currimundi State School will adhere to and meet our expectations. They will choose to behave in a courteous, positive and sensible manner and demonstrate the true values of being a 'Curra Kid'. Some students at Currimundi exceed our expectations and behave in an impeccable manner –for these students we have a merit level and for those demonstrating this on a consistent and outstanding basis in all they do in school, we have our behaviour excellence level.

Currimundi is committed to educating all students, including those with the highest behavioural support needs. We recognise that students with highly complex and challenging behaviours need comprehensive systems of support. Should a student not make appropriate choices whilst working at Tier 2 Support, the sector Deputy and School Principal will meet with parents / carers to discuss appropriate actions going forward.

Reinforcement to Encourage Appropriate Behaviour Choices

At Currimundi, communication of our key messages about behaviour is backed up through reinforcement, which provides students with feedback for engaging in expected school behaviour. This is done in class with the rule of the week, on parade and through our wider community messages through the newsletter and electronic sign, school. This reinforcement system is designed to increase the quantity and quality of positive interactions between students and staff.

Outlined below are the proactive strategies and programs implemented to foster and promote a safe and supportive school community.



Classroom Reinforcement Schedules

In conjunction with the school-wide expectations diamond individual classes operate class-based reinforcement and consequences to allow teaching and learning experiences to be maximised. These schedules are developed collaboratively with students to ensure expectations are clearly defined and understood. Each teacher develops and implements positive reinforcement schedules within their classroom to recognise and reward student efforts to meet and exceed whole class expectations. Reinforcement may be delivered in a variety of ways including verbal acknowledgement and praise, social interaction, parent / caregiver contact, leadership responsibilities, material rewards etc. All classroom models are based on our five-point scale.

Expectation Lessons

To ensure students have the necessary knowledge and skills, lessons are delivered teaching students the expected behaviours within the school. This enables potential learning experiences to be optimal. General capabilities, including the full remit of personal and social skills are delivered as bespoke activities and fully integrated into lessons as part of the delivery of the Australian Curriculum.

Merit and Excellence Levels

We recognise at Currimundi State School that many students do not just do what is expected – they go above and beyond in their efforts, their mannerisms and their behaviours. Within the individual classrooms, we encourage teachers to formally recognise when students demonstrate positive behaviours and choices on a consistent basis. Students who achieve and remain at these levels will be recognised with certificates of achievement at the key points in each term / semester (see page 10).

Green Tickets - Positive classroom behaviour

Green tickets are provided to class teachers. These tickets are used to reinforce positive behaviours <u>in the classroom</u>. When a student is given a green ticket, they write their name on the back and place it in the classroom's 'Green Ticket Lucky Draw' box. Green tickets match the wording from our whole school rules matrix. The class teacher conducts regular lucky draws and offers various prizes or ice block vouchers.

Class teachers record the names of all students receiving a green ticket and the number of tickets they collect. Student Councillors are attached to each class to support this process. These numbers are then presented at school council meetings each week and recorded by the School Council lead.

The whole of school green ticket reward occurs twice a year in Terms 2 and 4. The top two (2) winners from each class will receive a prize or enjoy a special lunch provided by the Currimundi Tuck Shop and attended by the Principal and/or Deputy Principal. The top five from each class will also receive a certificate of accomplishment at the end of each semester.

All students have the opportunity to win a Green ticket prize regardless of their behaviour level.

Blue Tickets - Positive Playground Behaviour

Blue tickets are kept in teacher playground duty folders and are allocated to students to reinforce positive behaviours exhibited during lunch and play times. When given a blue ticket, (which lists the student's name, class and the expectation that has been met), the student places their named ticket in their house box located at the Resource Centre. These are collated by the Deputy Principal, recording the names and numbers of Blue Tickets received by each student. During the weekly parade, two (2) winners are randomly drawn from the box. Each winner receives an ice block voucher and has their name published in the newsletter.



Each week all blue tickets are placed in the <u>blue ticket surfboard collection point</u> located outside the office. When the surfboard is filled with blue tickets an end of semester reward activity is organised for the whole school.

Super Surfer Certificates

All teachers are encouraged to present general certificates for good work and good behaviour during the course of the school week. 'Super Surfer' awards are given to one child from each class on parade each week and is recorded centrally on OneSchool.



Behaviour Support – Tiered System

The Tiered System

The Principal, Deputy Principal or Support Team may be involved at any point of time in all levels of the tiered behaviour system.

The aim of the Currimundi Behaviour Support Program is to create an environment where every member of the school community is able to function to the best of his / her ability. Our tiered based system focuses on the development and maintenance of self-discipline. The system applies to all students enrolled at Currimundi State School, however adjustments are made to meet the requirements of individuals requiring targeted or intensive support. The tiered system encourages students to make positive choices and rewards those that consistently demonstrate the values and expectations that we aspire to. *The parent / carer is a key partner in every tier of the behaviour system and it is our job as professionals to engage with parents and keep them informed and involved in this process.*

Movement between tiers and subsequent levels is outlined in the Currimundi Tiers and Levels Flow Chart.

Level System Operation

Student behaviour will fall into one of five levels with 'Expected' being the standard that we expect students to exhibit and achieve.

Students who demonstrate above standard behaviours will climb into Merit and Excellence levels.

Students who exhibit additional needs and who require additional guidance will be supported in Tier 1 Support or Tier 2 Support. Students at these levels will be supported by their class teacher, sector Deputy and other additional professionals as deemed necessary.





Excellence Level

People involved:

Student, parent, teacher and Deputy Principal

- Student is able to manage own behaviour and makes consistent exemplary choices, over and above the expected and merit level.
- Student is rewarded in class with green tickets and contact home from the class teacher, commending their ethic and attitude.
- Student to meet with Deputy Principal and be praised for their efforts.

Outcomes:

- Students at this level will participate in the Class Reward Activity each term.
- Letter sent home by Deputy Principal if student achieves and remains at Excellent Level for a period of one calendar month
- Presentation of certificates at end of term parades for those students who have achieved Excellence level for a period of one month or more at any point in that term. (must not of been at Tier 1 or Tier 2 support that term)
- Any student who has been at 'Excellence Level' for eight weeks or more in a Semester will be invited to a lunch with the Deputy Principal / Principal
- Students applying for School Captain and Vice-Captain would be expected to have demonstrated Excellence level behaviour during their senior schooling

Merit Level

People involved:

Student, parent and teacher

- Student is able to manage own behaviour and makes consistent positive choices, over and above the expected level.
- Student is rewarded in class with green tickets and contact home from the class teacher, commending their ethic and attitude.

Outcomes:

- Certificate presented if student is at Merit level at end of each term (As long as they have not been in tier 1 or Tier 2 that term).
- Students at this level will participate in the Class Reward Activity each term.
- Considered for class jobs or responsibilities within the class
- Students applying for positions of Portfolio Captain or other leadership positions should be able to demonstrate they have shown merit level behaviour during their senior schooling.

Expected Level

People involved:

Student only

- Student is able to manage own behaviour.
- Students who work, play and participate responsibly, meeting school wide expectations, remain at Expected Level.
- NOTE: (Students *must* maintain Expected Level to participate in "Surfing Excellence Programs")

Outcomes:

- Certificate presented if student has remained at Expected Level for whole of semester.
- Students at this level will participate in the Class Reward Activity each term.
- Students at this level are invited to attend any out of school trips and visits.
- Considered for class jobs or position of responsibility in upper school (eg Student Council position



Tier 1 Support

Level 1 People involved: Student, parent, teacher or Deputy/Principal

Student needs teacher intervention to help manage his / her behaviour.

Possible Reasons:

- Consistent routine behaviour breaches
- 3 grey cards issued as a result of minor behaviour incidents resulting in drop from expected level to level 1
- 1 major incident resulting in reflection referral and immediate drop in level.

Outcomes:

- Parent / Carer contacted via grey card or reflection letter (Teacher or Deputy to contact parent to inform them of incoming grey card)
- Deputy Principal records grey cards / reflection referral / level drop on class spreadsheet
- Class teacher to have a conversation with child and parent / carer to discuss issues / ways of support / working together

Next Steps:

- After 2 weeks, the student's behaviour is reviewed by the class teacher and if the student has corrected their behaviour choices and had no further grey cards or reflection referrals, the student will return back to expected level.
- Should a student receive 3 grey cards during a two week period, it would be a reflection and they would drop to Level

Consequences:

• Students at Level 1 or below (Level 2/3/4) on the day of any planned extra-curricular events may require support to attend any school incursions and excursions. It is the responsibility of the class teacher to have a discussion with the Leadership Team around the support required and inform the student and their parent / carer if the student is at risk of this occurring.

Level 2 People involved: Student, parent, teacher and Principal/Deputy

Student needs teacher intervention to help manage his / her behaviour.

Teacher needs additional support to encourage the student to make better choices.

Possible Reasons:

- Student already at Level 1 and demonstrating consistent minor behaviour breaches
- 3 grey cards issued as a result of minor behaviour incidents resulting in drop from level 1 to level 2
- 1 major incident resulting in reflection referral and immediate drop from level 1 to level 2

Outcomes:

- Class teacher meet with Deputy Principal to discuss the student and agree a pathway forward.
- Parent / Carer contacted via grey card or reflection letter (Teacher or Deputy to contact parent to inform them of incoming grey card)
- Deputy records grey cards / reflection referral / level drop on class spreadsheet
- Class teacher or Deputy discuss with parent / carer to discuss issues / ways of support / working
- Student meeting with sector Deputy Principal.



Next Steps:

- After 2 weeks, the student's behaviour is reviewed by the class teacher and if the student has corrected their behaviour choices and had no further grey cards or reflection referrals, the student will return back to Level 1.
- Should a student receive 3 grey cards during a two week period, it would be a reflection and they would drop to Level 3.
- If the student received a 'reflection referral' during this 2-week period, they will drop to level 3.

Consequences:

• Students at Level 2 or below (Level 2/3/4) on the day of any planned extra-curricular events may require support to attend any school incursions and excursions. It is the responsibility of the class teacher to have a discussion with the Leadership Team around the support required and inform the student and their parent / carer if the student is at risk of this occurring.

Tier 2 Support

Level 3

People involved: Student, teacher, parent / carer, Deputy Principal and Currimundi State School Support Services Committee

Student needs teacher intervention to help manage his / her behaviour.

Additional support to encourage the student to make better choices from teacher, parent / carer and Deputy Principal have not yet resulted in expected behaviour being achieved.

Possible Reasons:

- Student already at Level 2 and demonstrating consistent minor behaviour breaches
- 3 grey cards issued as a result of minor behaviour incidents resulting in drop from level 2 to level 3
- 1 major incident resulting in reflection referral and immediate drop from level 2 to level 3

Outcomes:

- Parent / Carer contacted by deputy or class teacher to inform them a grey card or reflection letter has been issued.
- DP/Class teacher records grey cards / reflection referral / level drop on class spreadsheet
- DP/Class teacher to have a conversation with parent / carer to seek consent to present student to School Support Services Committee
- Class teacher completes referral form and presents student case at next available committee meeting
- Student meeting with sector Deputy Principal/Principal.

Next Steps:

- The School Support Services Committee will make recommendations for supporting the student and their family. This should be communicated to the family by the class teacher or if agreed, the Deputy Principal / nominated professional. These recommendations may involve a variety of additional support programmes and measures – see page 4 bullet points.
- After 2 weeks, the student's behaviour is reviewed by the class teacher/DP/Principal and if the student has corrected their behaviour choices and had no further grey cards or reflection referrals, the student will return back to Level 2.
- If a student receives another grey card during this two-week period, the class teacher/DP will record it on the class spreadsheet. Should a student receive 3 grey cards during this period, they will drop to Level 4.
- If the student received a 'reflection' during this 2-week period, they will drop to level 4.

Consequences:

Any single or combination of:

- Involvement from community agencies
- Negotiated Education Plan
- Functional Behaviour Analysis
- Play Plan
- Regional Referral to the AIM Team (Assessment &

 Intervention Management)
- Flexible Arrangements Schedule
- 1:1 involvement from Support Network Staff
- Leadership position forfeited for the year

- Regular communication with parent / carer
- Education Adjustment Plan
- Time Sampling Observations
- Teacher Aide support
 - Referral to the School or Regional Guidance Officer for Intensive Behaviour Support
- Alternate timetable
- Individual Behaviour Support Plan
- Students at Level 3 or below (Level 3/4) on the day of any planned extra-curricular events may require support to attend any school incursions and excursions. It is the responsibility of the class teacher to have a discussion with the Leadership Team around the support required and inform the student and their parent / carer if the student is at risk of this occurring. Any student getting to level 3 at any point during a term may be ineligible to represent the school in any extra-curricular activity, school visits or inter school sport activity in that term.

Level 4

People involved: Student with teacher, Principal, Deputy Principal and parent / carer.

Intervention needed for student to manage his / her own behaviour.

Student is at risk of not completing their education at Currimundi State School

Student has received or is at risk of suspension from school.

Possible Reasons:

- Student already at Level 3 and demonstrating consistent minor behaviour breaches
- 3 grey cards issued as a result of minor behaviour incidents resulting in drop from level 3 to level 4
- 1 major incident resulting in reflection referral and immediate drop from level 3 to level 4

Outcomes:

- Parent / Carer contacted by Deputy Principal or Class Teacher to inform them of a grey card or reflection letter
- Deputy records grey cards / reflection referral / level drop on class spreadsheet
- Principal to contact parent to request meeting

Next Steps:

- Principal / Deputy Principal and Support Team will meet with Parent / Carer, the student and the class teacher (if possible). The Principal will chair the meeting and will hear the issues and the support that has been suggested and tried. The aim of the meeting is to agree a solution plan that the student will adhere to in order to continue their education at Currimundi State School.
- After 2 weeks, the student's behaviour is reviewed by the Deputy Principal and class teacher and if the student has corrected their behaviour choices and had no further grey cards or reflection referrals, the student will return back to Level 3.
- Should a student receive 3 grey cards during a two week period, the student will automatically be referred via the Deputy Principal to the Principal.
- If the student received a 'reflection referral' during this 2-week period, they will be referred via the Deputy Principal to the Principal.

Consequences: Any single or multiple combination of:

Involvement from community agencies



Regular communication with

- Negotiated Education Plan
- Functional Behaviour Analysis
- Lunch time activity program
- Regional Referral to the AIM Team (Assessment &

 Intervention Management)
- Flexible Arrangements Schedule
- 1:1 involvement from Support Network Staff
- Possible suspension

parent / carer

- Education Adjustment Plan
- Time Sampling Observations
- Teacher Aide support
- Regional Referral to the Guidance Officer for Intensive Behaviour Support
- Alternate timetable
- Individual Behaviour Support Plan
- Alternative schooling arrangements sought
- Any student reaching level 4 during a <u>semester</u> will not be allowed on any extra-curricular activities, trips or sports until they have worked their way back to level 3 where their individual circumstances may be considered.

Consideration of Individual Circumstances

All students are expected to adhere to our Code of Conduct. The individual circumstances and actions of the student will be considered alongside the needs and rights of the school community members, when deciding and applying consequences. Consistency will be achieved in responding to the behaviour, but not necessarily in the nature of the response.

Our staff are also obliged by law to respect and protect the privacy of individual students, so while we understand the interest of other students, staff and parents to know what punishment another student might have received, we will not disclose or discuss this information with anyone but the student's family. This applies even if the behavioural incident, such as bullying, involves your child. You can be assured that school staff take all matters, such as bullying, very seriously and will address them appropriately. We expect that parents and students will respect the privacy of other students and families.

Consequences for breaching our *Code of Conduct* may vary according to a number of factors:

- Age of the child and previous behaviour record for related incidents
- Quantity and reliability of evidence and the intent of the action
- Honesty and remorse shown
- Emotional well-being and safety of others
- Context of the incident
- Family circumstances and socio-economic situation
- Gender and culture
- Appraisement levels
- Disability, and within this, levels of need/category



Processes for Dealing with Unacceptable Behaviour

Currimundi State School makes systematic efforts to prevent problem student behaviour by teaching and reinforcing positive choices and expected behaviours on an ongoing basis. Teachers will use Essential Skills Management in the classroom. When unacceptable behaviour occurs, students experience predictable and consistent consequences. Our school seeks to ensure that responses to unacceptable behaviour are proportionate to the nature of the behaviour. Teachers interpret each individual student's behaviour in terms of context and expectations. The need for a safe and supportive environment, where all students can optimise learning, is the primary focus when assessing inappropriate actions.

Routine, Minor and Major Behaviours

When responding to problem behaviour the staff member first determines if the problem behaviour is routine, minor or major, with the following agreed understanding:

- **Routine** problem behaviour is handled by staff member at the time it happens. It is a behaviour where the student is reminded about the choices they are making and the student responds accordingly and appropriately. No further action is required.
- **Minor** problem behaviour is handled by staff members at the time it happens. It is expected that this will result in a grey card (See Appendix 7).
- **Major** problem behaviour incurs either a reflection referral or a suspension. It will also result in a level drop. The incident is likely to be referred to a Deputy Principal for information purposes or action if deemed necessary.

Routine behaviours are those that:

• Are a very minor breach of the classroom or school rules that a student chooses to rectify immediately. Staff would issue a verbal warning and this results in changed behaviour immediately.

Minor behaviours are those that:

- Are minor breaches of the school rules as defined in the minor behaviours table Consistent routine breaches of rules or expectations
- Behaviours that do not seriously harm others or cause you to suspect that the student may be harmed
- Do not violate the rights of others in any other serious way
- Are not part of a pattern of problem behaviours
- Do not require involvement of specialist support staff or administration

Major behaviours are those that:

- Significantly violate the rights of others
- Put others / self / the school at risk of harm
- Require the involvement of, or discussion with school administration

When major behaviours occurs, staff members should calmly state the major problem behaviour and the student of expected school behaviour. The staff member then follows the process for Reflection Roo experimentals. (See Appendix 9 & 11)

Government

The following outlines possible consequences of actions that may be implemented:

| ROU | TINE BEHAVIOUR | MINOR BEHAVIOUR | MAJOR BEHAVIOUR |
|-----|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------|---|
| • | Classroom consequences | Grey Card along with: | Reflection Room or |
| • | Loss of playtime for brief period | Parent / carer contacted | • Suspension along with: |
| • | Class time out for brief | | Parent / carer contacted |
| • | period Additional class time or | May also include: | Deputy Principal involvement |
| | missing an activity | Buddy Class | |
| • | Cleaning of work area | Office time out | May also include: |
| • | Walk with the duty teacher | • | May also include: |
| | for a brief period | | Restorative practices |
| • | Clean up duty | | Referral to administration |
| • | Loss of break time | | Monitoring Card |
| • | Parent / Carer contacted | | Referral to school support services |
| | | | Referral to regional |
| | | | support services |
| | | | Withdrawal from school |
| | | | internal or external |
| | | | activities |
| | | | Non-attendance of off |
| | | | campus activities. |



Examples of routine, minor and major problem behaviour

| | ROUTINE BEHAVIOURS | MINOR BEHAVIOUR | MAJOR BEHAVIOUR |
|-----------------------|---|--|---|
| | Running on concrete / bitumen | Repeated running on concrete / bitumen after warnings | Physical assault (inc fighting) Threatening behaviours, including but not limited to physical, verbal and psychological. |
| | Out of school uniform Riding bikes, scooters, skateboard etc on school grounds | Repeated out of school uniform Repeated or dangerous riding bikes, scooters, skateboard etc on school grounds | Dangerous safety breaches Sexual assault |
| We are CARING | Swinging on building structures Incorrect use / care of | Repeated or dangerous swinging on building structures Repeated incorrect use / care of | Substance abuse Possession / distribution of pornographic materials. |
| | equipment Playing non-approved school games | equipment Repeated playing non-approved school games Minor physical contact | Possession, use or sale of illegal substances / items |
| | Out of bounds | Repeated out of bounds | Persistent minor behaviour |
| | Bad sportsmanship | Repeated bad sportsmanshipMinor swearing | Wilful damage or misuse of property or stealing |
| | Spitting or chewing gum | Repeated spitting or chewing gum | Verbal, written or gestural obscenity |
| We show RESPECT | Littering | Repeated litteringRepeated disruption in class | Refusal to follow adult directions |
| We show RESPECT | | Not following instructionsProperty misconduct | Verbal or written obscene abuse of staff |
| | | Insolence Minor bullying / harassment Repeated uniform violations | Repeated insolence Major bully / harassment / defamation |
| | | · Repeated union volations | Persistent minor behaviour |
| | Forgetting equipment | Repeatedly forgetting equipment IT misconduct | Leaving school grounds without permission |
| We are RESPONSIBLE | Untidy work areas Mobile phone not handed in to office | Mobile phone not handed in to the office –repeated Misconduct involving an object Dishonesty | Use of mobile phone in any part of the school for voicemail, email, text message or filming without authorisation. |
| | Lack of care for the natural environment Not being water wise | Distributes ty Inappropriate use of toilets Repeated lack of care for the natural environment Repeated not being water wise | Inappropriate use of technology (e.g. internet, computers) |
| We are ACTIVE | Incomplete work (class or home) | Repeated incomplete work (class or home) | |
| LEARNERS | | Task refusalNon-compliant with routine | Repeated disruption of others' learning |
| | Disorganised or late | | Persistent minor behaviours |



Consequences of Unacceptable Behaviour

Grey Cards (See Appendix 8)

Grey Cards are minor warning cards. They are issued for misbehaviour in the playground / classroom that is considered to be minor or persistent breaches of routine behaviours. Parents will be informed by letter when a student receives a Grey Card by the class teacher.

- Grey cards are stored in your student's classroom behaviour records / chart.
- The children should be given these to place in their chart pocket as a sign of owning their behaviour choices.
- Parent / Carer contacted via grey card letter sent by class teacher (See Appendix 8)
- Class teacher records grey cards / reflection referral / level drop on class spreadsheet
- Class teacher sends copy of letter to administration via folder in reprographics rooms.
- Class teacher to have a conversation with parent / carer to discuss issues / ways of support / working together
- When a student receives three grey cards, a reflection referral slip and parent letter is written by the classroom teacher and the student attends reflection. The student incurs a level drop. The student should enter their new level card in their class behaviour chart.
- For each multiple of three grey cards a student receives in a term, a new reflection referral is written.
- For Prep students in Term 1, grey cards will be used as a visual cue to students as a warning to correct their behaviours. The Prep teacher will need to speak with the parent / carer about the inappropriate choice of behaviour. From term 2, the full tiered system will be used as in the rest of the school.

Reflection Referral

- The member of staff writes the Reflection Slip (Appendix 9) and passes it to the class teacher who records it on the class spreadsheet, issues the letter home (Appendix 11) and then places it in the folder in the Teacher Aide Room. Reflection slips can be issued by any member of staff at the school.
- Reflection Referral means an automatic drop in the behaviour level assigned to that child within the tiered system.
- Reflection Referral means that the student misses their play time at first lunch this may be for 1-5 lunches depending on the incident and previous behaviours.
- Student presents him / herself at the Reflection Room promptly at 10:50am and completes a Behaviour Reflection Sheet (Appendix 12).
- Late arrival means an extra day's reflection unless agreed otherwise with the member of staff running reflection on that day.
- If the student chooses not to attend reflection, an extra day is imposed.
- If a student chooses inappropriate behaviour in the Reflection Room, extra time is imposed. In the first instance this will be an extra day given.
- Continual non-compliance in the Reflection Room, or continued non-attendance could result in a suspension.

Reflection Room

The Reflection Room is a whole school facility provided at first break each day. A member of staff, either executive or member of the behaviour Committee, is on duty in the designated room and students are required to work on a reflection sheet and develop a plan to improve their behaviour. The purpose of the Reflection Room is to provide an opportunity for students to reflect on the management of their behaviour, plan alternative ways to behave in the future and to act as a deterrent for inappropriate behaviours.



Positive Choice Tracker (See Appendix 13)

Students who find it difficult to remind themselves about expected behaviours are assisted to remember in smaller segments of time. The Behaviour Monitoring Report is divided into the three classroom sessions of the day and two play breaks. A staff member/teacher evaluates behaviour at the end of each section of time. A member of Administration checks this each afternoon and it is taken home each evening for parents to witness and sign.

Play Plan (See Appendix 14)

Some students may be placed on a 'Play Plan' which identifies where students are to play. This will be discussed with parents / carers by the sector Deputy. Failure to adhere to the 'Play Plan' could result in a Reflection Room referral and a likely level drop.

In alignment with The Code of School Behaviour when applying consequences, the individual circumstances and actions of the student and the needs and rights of the school community members are considered at all times

Strategies to Deal with Unacceptable Behaviour

Teacher response:

Each classroom has an agreed Behaviour Tiered System, which reflects the whole school expectations (same number of tiers). A class chart enables students, parents and teachers to identify and monitor student progress. When a student exhibits low-level and infrequent problem behaviour, known as routine behaviours, staff should use one or more of the following strategies in the stated order:

- Rule reminder with re direction to learning
- First warning
- Second warning giving direct choice as to behaviour expectations
- Issue consequence as per options below:

Buddy Class:

If a student persistently chooses not to correct their behaviour to meet the classroom expectations, therefore disrupting the learning of others, the student is referred to their **Buddy Class**. Students are exited to the Buddy Class for a period of time, determined by the class teacher. This referral will result in a grey card, be entered on the class spreadsheet and parents / carers notified by letter. Refusal to attend the Buddy Class or further inappropriate behaviour whilst at the Buddy Class will result in an immediate referral to administration. Two visits to a Buddy Class in a session may also result in a referral to administration.

Administration Referral:

When the teacher has exhausted all classroom strategies to manage the student's behaviour within the class or behaviour is of a serious nature, students will be referred to the office, via a telephone call. A child will be returned to the classroom when he/she indicates that he/she is ready to behave more reasonably and when the relevant administrator believes this to be the case. Sanctions will remain the responsibility of the class teacher unless otherwise agreed with the Deputy Principal. It would be expected that the minimum consequence of an administration referral would be at least a grey card, but could result in a reflection referral.

Individual Class Management Strategies:

A student found to consistently challenge the constraints of the classroom, may require individual management strategies. The class teacher should discuss these with the sector deputy. Strategies that may be used include, but not limited to:

- Curriculum modification.
- Individual reinforcement schedules.
- Communication book / card.



- Parent / carer communication.
- Monitoring book.
- Referral to

It is expected that students requiring this additional support, may well be at Tier 2 of support needs and as such, should be referred to the School Support Services Committee as per the agreed procedure.

Classroom Management – Ensuring Consistent Responses to Classroom Incidents

Staff at Currimundi are encouraged to use their individual skills, expertise and imagination in developing classroom specific behaviour and reward systems. These however must fit into the whole school system of agreed classroom practice.

The overarching pedagogy is based on positive youth development – encouraging our students to make positive choices, to take responsibility for their own behaviours and receive reward and recognition when they make positive choices.

The fundamentals of classroom practice are based on the principles of 'Essential Skills for Classroom Management' (Richmond 1996, Leitch 2006) with staff also encouraged to utilise the research, findings and practice of Dr Bill Rogers. For teaching staff in the classroom there is an expectation that good teaching follows these principals. When dealing with behaviours that are not at the expected level, a three-step process will be followed by all staff:

1: First Warning – Verbal or Non-Verbal redirection given to student. Teacher may repeat this redirection. Student name is noted privately on student desk or teacher desk– this visual clue reminds the student about the consequences of their actions and reminds them to make a change.

2: Second Warning – Teacher gives the student the option to change their behaviour. There is a reminder given about the expected behaviours and possible consequences if the current behaviour does not change. Student may be moved to a different seat, given time out or additional external support could be requested. Student name is noted privately on their desk or teacher's desk on the next level of the board / chart / ladder / peg chart – this visual clue reminds the student about the inappropriateness of their actions and also that the next step is a consequence.

3: Consequence – A consequence is issued to the student as the student has continued to make inappropriate choices and not met the classroom expectations. A grey card will be issued. Student name is noted on the third tier of the board / chart / ladder / peg chart – this visual clue reminds the student about the consequences of their actions and highlights they have reached the end of the classroom responses. Should poor choices continue, external support from administration will be sought and the student is likely to be removed from the lesson with additional school-based consequences.

At Currimundi State School, staff members are provided with appropriate professional development and / or training to respectfully deal with inappropriate behaviours and support students to make better choices. Through training activities, we work to ensure consistent responses to challenging behaviours across the school.

Students also receive support about how to respond when other students display challenging behaviours towards them and are taught the necessary skills to meet the expectations at Currimundi State School.



Use of School Disciplinary Absences

The use of school suspension is not an easy decision and not one that is taken lightly. Some incidents do however warrant suspension from school. These include, but are not limited to:

• Conduct of the student that is prejudicial to the good order and management of the school that may include disobedience, serious physical misconduct and serious verbal misconduct. The magnitude of seriousness will be deemed by the observing teacher and associated sector Deputy Principal I consultation with the Principal

Period of time a student can be suspended from school:

- Most incidents will be for not more than ten school days, or
- If the Principal is satisfied the student behaviour was so serious that the suspension should be longer than ten school days, for not more than twenty school days.

Suspension from school (1 – 10 days) or (11 – 20 days)

- disobedience
- misbehaviour
- conduct that adversely affects, or is likely to adversely affect, other students (may be ground for suspension even if the conduct does not happen on school premises or during school hours)
- conduct that adversely affects, or is likely to adversely affect, the good order and management of the school (may be ground for suspension even if the conduct does not happen on school premises or during school hours)
- the student's attendance at the school poses an unacceptable risk to the safety or wellbeing of other students or staff
- the student is charged with a serious offence (refer to Flowchart: Appendix 16 Suspensions (charge-related))
- the student is charged with an offence other than a serious offence and the Principal is reasonably satisfied it would not be in the best interests of other students or of staff for the student to attend the school while the charge is pending (refer to Flowchart: Appendix 16 Suspensions (charge-related))

Notification will be made to student and parents in writing, giving full reasons for the decision relating to the selected School Disciplinary Absence and the opportunity to discuss this with an appointed staff member.

Re-entry

A planned re-entry to school is convened after enforcing a suspension to minimize recurrence of unacceptable behaviour and disruption to the student's education. Parties who may be involved in this process: *Principal, parent / carer, student, Guidance Officer, Deputy Principal, teacher and relevant support staff.*

- Re-entry interview and re-entry plan completed (See Appendix 15).
- Individual Behaviour Support Plan may be implemented or reviewed at this time
- A monitoring book may be issued to the student as a way of tracking progress
- A student will re-enter at the level below the one they were on when they received their suggestion



Arrangements

The invitation to attend the re-entry meeting will be communicated via telephone and in writing, usually via email. A record of the meeting is saved in OneSchool, under the Contact tab, including any notes or discussions occurring during the meeting.

Structure

The structure of the re-meeting should follow a set agenda (see re-entry plan), shared in advance with the student and their family. If additional items are raised for discussion, a separate arrangement should be made to meet with the parent/s at a later date and time. This meeting should be narrowly focussed on making the student and their family feel welcome back into the school community.

Reasonable adjustments

In planning the re-entry meeting, school staff will consider reasonable adjustments needed to support the attendance and engagement of the student. This includes selecting an appropriate and accessible meeting space, organising translation or interpretation services or supports (e.g. AUSLAN), provision of written and/or pictorial information and other relevant accommodations. The inclusion of support staff, such as guidance officers or Community Education Counsellors, may also offer important advice to ensure a successful outcome to the re-entry meeting.



Differentiated and Explicit Teaching

Currimundi State School is a safe, caring and disciplined school environment that provides differentiated teaching to respond to the learning needs of all students. This involves teaching expected behaviours and providing opportunities for students to practise these behaviours. Teachers reinforce expected behaviours, provide feedback and correction, and opportunities for practise.

Teachers and support staff at Currimundi State School vary what students are taught, how they are taught and how students can demonstrate what they know as part of this differentiated approach to behaviour. These decisions about differentiation are made in response to the relationships that our staff build with our students and their families. They are grounded on previous knowledge, both from school and home, historic and current data and day-to-day monitoring that indicates the behavioural learning needs of students. This enables our teachers to purposefully plan a variety of ways to engage students; assist them to achieve the expected learning; and to demonstrate their learning.

There are three main layers to differentiation, as illustrated in the diagram below. This model is the same used for academic and pedagogical differentiation.

| Differentiation occurs at each layer and becomes increasingly personalised | | | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | Differentiated and explicit teaching: for all students | | | | | |
| | Focused teaching: for identified students | | | | | |
| | Intensive teaching: for a small number of students | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

These three layers map directly to our tiered system – expected for all students, focused differentiated individual support at Tier 1 and Tier 2 is intensive teaching for a small number of students. Each layer provides progressively more personalised supports for students.

Every teacher in our school uses the school expectations matrix – what it means to be a CURRA kid (See Appendix 2). Using this matrix, the class teacher works with all students to explain exactly what each of the expectations look, sound and feel like in their classroom and around our school. These are also a focus of our parade cycle.

For those students who demonstrate the need for support at Tier 2, a committee meets to discuss the needs and routes available for support. This will often, but not exclusively, involve the direct support of the HOSES and the support team in our SURF Central support hub. In many cases, Individual Behaviour Support Plans (IBSP) will be written with the Deputy Principals to offer routes for success for the student.

Focused Teaching

Approximately 10% of all students in any school or classroom may require additional support to meet behaviour expectations, even after being provided with differentiated and explicit teaching. These students may have difficulty meeting behavioural expectations in a particular period of the day or as part of a learning area/subject, and focused teaching is provided to help them achieve success. This is coordinated through our learning support team and SURF Central staff.

Focused teaching involves revisiting key behavioural concepts and/or skills and using explicit and structured teaching strategies in particular aspects of a behaviour skill. Focused teaching provides students with more opportunities to practise skills and multiple opportunities to achieve the intended learning and expected behaviour. One such initiative is the social skills program that is offered at Prep – Year 2 level and Year 3 – Year 6 level. This program works on group work, resilience, conflict resolution, problem solving, friendship skills and is based on ACARA Personal and Social Capability



Support staff, including teachers with specialist expertise in learning, language or development, work collaboratively with class teachers at Currimundi State School to provide focused teaching. Focused teaching is aligned to our CURRA Expectations Matrix (Appendix 2), and student progress is monitored by the classroom teacher/s to identify those who:

- no longer require the additional support
- require ongoing focused teaching
- require intensive teaching.

For more information about these programs, please contact Mrs Rita Jermyn, our HOSES on Tel: 5436 6888

Intensive Teaching

Research evidence shows that even in an effective, well-functioning school there will be a small percentage of the student population who require intensive teaching to achieve behavioural expectations. Intensive teaching involves frequent and explicit instruction, with individuals or in small groups, to develop mastery of basic behavioural concepts, skills and knowledge.

Some students may require intensive teaching for a short period, for particular behaviour skills. Other students may require intensive teaching for a more prolonged period. Decisions about the approach will be made based on data collected from their teachers, and following consultation with the student's family.

For a small number of students who continue to display behaviours that are deemed complex and challenging, then individualised, function-based behaviour assessment and support plans and multi-agency collaboration may be provided to support the student. This approach will seek to address the acute impact of barriers to learning and participation faced by students who are negotiating a number of complex personal issues.

Students who require intensive teaching will be assigned an individual mentor at the school that will oversee the coordination of their program, in conjunction with the class teacher.



School Policies

Currimundi State School has tailored school discipline policies designed to ensure students, staff and visitors work cooperatively to create and maintain a supportive and safe learning environment. The following policies have responsibilities in them for students, staff and visitors:

- Temporary removal of student property
- Use of mobile phones and other devices by students- the 'Away for the day' statewide approach to student use of mobile phones during the school day
- Preventing and responding to bullying
- Appropriate use of social media



Temporary removal of student property

The removal of any property in a student's possession may be necessary to promote the caring, safe and supportive learning environment of the school, to maintain and foster mutual respect between all state school staff and students. The <u>Temporary</u> <u>removal of student property by school staff procedure</u> outlines the processes, conditions and responsibilities for state school principals and school staff when temporarily removing student property.

In determining what constitutes a reasonable time to retain student property, the Principal or state school staff will consider:

- the condition, nature or value of the property
- the circumstances in which the property was removed
- the safety of the student from whom the property was removed, other students or staff members
- good management, administration and control of the school.

The Principal or delegated state school staff determine when the temporarily removed student property can be returned, unless the property has been handed to the Queensland Police Service. Please see Appendix 18 for further guidance.

The following items are explicitly prohibited at Currimundi State School and will be removed if found in a student's possession:

- illegal items or weapons (e.g. guns, knives*, throwing stars, brass knuckles, chains)
- imitation guns or weapons
- potentially dangerous items (e.g. blades, rope)
- drugs** (including tobacco)
- alcohol
- aerosol deodorants or cans (including spray paint)
- explosives (e.g. fireworks, flares, sparklers)
- flammable solids or liquids (e.g. fire starters, mothballs, lighters)
- poisons (e.g. weed killer, insecticides)
- inappropriate or offensive material (e.g. racist literature, pornography, extremist propaganda).

* No knives of any type are allowed at school, including flick knives, ballistic knives, sheath knives, push daggers, trench knives, butterfly knives, star knives, butter knives, fruit knives or craft knives, or any item that can be used as a weapon, for example a chisel. Knives needed for school activities will be provided by the school, and the use of them will be supervised by school staff. In circumstances where students are required to have their own knives or sharp tools for particular subjects or vocational courses, the school will provide information about the procedures for carrying and storing these items at school. ** The administration of medications to students by school staff is only considered when a prescribing health practitioner has determined that it is necessary or when there is no other alternative in relation to the treatment of a specific health need. Schools require medical authorisation to administer any medication to students (including over-the-counter medications such as paracetamol or alternative medicines).

Mobile Phones/SMART Watches:

Students are not allowed to carry or use mobile phones or SMART Watches at Currimundi State School. A safe, handing in process is available through the school office to all students. Should a student be seen to be carrying or using a mobile phone or SMART Watch, the student will be required to hand this into the office and parents will be contacted.

Should a student subsequently refuse to hand over their phone or SMART Watch, the relevant sector Deputy Principal or Principal will contact parents and request their support and or attendance at school.

Please see Use of Mobile Phones and other devices section in Student Code of Conduct



Process for temporary removal of student property:

Property may be temporarily removed from a student if the Principal or state school staff are reasonably satisfied the removal is necessary to:

- ensure compliance with the Student Code of Conduct
- preserve the caring, safe, supportive and productive learning environment of the school
- maintain and foster mutual respect among staff and students at the school
- encourage all students to take responsibility for their own behaviour and the consequences of their actions
- provide for the effective administration of matters about the students of the school.

Responsibilities:

State school staff at Currimundi State School:

• do not require the student's consent to search school property such as tidy trays or desks or any other bag or equipment supplied to the student through and by the school;

The Principal or Deputy Principal:

- may seize a student's bag where there is suspicion that the student has a dangerous item (for example, a knife) in their school bag, **prior** to seeking consent to search from a parent or calling the police;
- must gain consent from the student or parent to examine or otherwise deal with the temporarily removed student property. For example, staff who temporarily remove a mobile phone from a student are not authorised to unlock the phone or to read, copy or delete messages stored on the phone;
- may in an emergency deem it necessary to search a student's property without the student's consent or the consent of the student's parents (e.g. to access an EpiPen for an anaphylactic emergency);
- must get consent from the student or parent to search the person of a student (e.g. pockets or shoes). If consent is not provided and a search is considered necessary, the police and the student's parents should be called to make such a determination.

Parents of students at Currimundi State School:

- ensure your children do not bring property onto schools grounds or other settings used by the school (e.g. camp, sporting venues) that:
 - 1. is prohibited according to the Currimundi State School Student Code of Conduct
 - 2. is illegal
 - 3. puts the safety or wellbeing of others at risk
 - 4. does not preserve a caring, safe, supportive or productive learning environment
 - 5. does not maintain and foster mutual respect;
- collect temporarily removed student property as soon as possible after they have been notified by the Principal or state school staff that the property is available for collection.

Students of Currimundi State School:

- do not bring property onto school grounds or other settings used by the school (e.g. camp, sporting venues) that:
 - 1. is prohibited according to the Currimundi State School Code of Conduct
 - 2. is illegal
 - 3. puts the safety or wellbeing of others at risk
 - 4. does not preserve a caring, safe, supportive or productive learning environment
 - 5. does not maintain and foster mutual respect;
- collect their property as soon as possible when advised by the Principal or state school staff it is available for collection.



Use of mobile phones and other devices by students

Mobile phones and SMART Watches are an integral part of modern-day society and have their rightful place for many people. We recognise this at Currimundi State School; however, our school is a mobile and SMART Watch free zone for students.

To this regard, students <u>are not</u> permitted to carry or use mobile phones/SMART Watches at Currimundi State School. Any student that brings a phone or SMART Watch to school for use on the way to and from school are required to hand their phone or SMART Watch into the school office for safe storage. The phone or SMART Watch can be collected at the end of the school day. Phones or SMART Watches should not be stored in student bags.

Students must also not bring valuable personal technology devices like cameras, digital video cameras, or SMART Watch to school as there is a risk of damage or theft. This policy covers any electronic device not stipulated in the school book list.

Temporary Removal of Property:

Should a student be seen to be carrying or using a mobile phone or SMART Watch, the student will initially be reminded about the expectation to hand this into the office. Should a student subsequently refuse to follow this directive or be a repeat offender, state school staff will temporarily remove the device from the student.

Should a student subsequently refuse to hand over their phone or SMART Watch, the relevant sector Deputy Principal or Principal will contact parents and request their support and or attendance at school.

Any device that is temporarily removed will be made available for collection from the school office at the end of the school day (Please see Appendix 18 for advice about retaining item for longer) unless required to be kept for purposes of disciplinary investigation, when it will only be returned in the presence of a parent. Students should come to the office to request the return of their item.

Devices potentially containing evidence of criminal offences may be reported to the police. In such cases, police may take possession of such devices for investigation purposes and students and parents will be advised to contact Queensland Police Services (QPC) directly.

Students who have a personal technology device confiscated more than once, will not be permitted to have a personal technology device at school for at least one month, or longer if deemed necessary by the Principal.

At all times students, while using ICT facilities and devices supplied by the school, will be required to act in line with the requirements of the Currimundi State School Student Code of Conduct. In addition students and their parents should:

- understand the responsibility and behaviour requirements (as outlined by the school) that come with accessing the department's ICT network facilities (ICT Agreement)
- ensure they have the skills to report and discontinue access to harmful information if presented via the internet or email
- be aware that:
 - 1. access to ICT facilities and devices provides valuable learning experiences for students and supports the school's teaching and learning programs
 - 2. the school is not responsible for safeguarding information stored by students on departmentallyowned student computers or mobile devices
 - 3. schools may remotely access departmentally-owned student computers or mobile devices for management purposes
 - 4. students who use a school's ICT facilities and devices in a manner that is not appropriate may be subject to disciplinary action by the school, which could include restricting network access 避疫
 - 5. despite internal departmental controls to manage content on the internet, illegal, danger and offensive information may be accessed or accidentally displayed


6. teachers will always exercise their duty of care, but avoiding or reducing access to harmful information also requires responsible use by the student.

Recording Voice and Images:

Every member of the school community should feel confident about participating fully and frankly in all aspects of school life without concern that their personal privacy is being invaded by being recorded without their knowledge or consent.

We uphold the value of trust and the right to privacy at Currimundi. Students using personal technology devices to record inappropriate behaviours or incidents (such as vandalism, fighting, bullying, staged fighting or pranks etc) for the purpose of dissemination among the student body or outside the school, by any means (including distribution by phone or internet posting) builds a culture of distrust and disharmony.

Students must not record images anywhere that recording would not reasonably be considered appropriate (e.g. in change rooms, toilets or any other place where a reasonable person would expect to be afforded privacy). Recording of events in class is not permitted unless express consent is provided by the class teacher and it is done so on a school device.

A student at school who uses a personal technology device to record private conversations, ordinary school activities (apart from social functions like graduation ceremonies) or violent, illegal or embarrassing matter capable of bringing the school into public disrepute is considered to be in breach of this policy. A student doing this in uniform on the way to and from school may also be in breach of the Student Code of Conduct. Should this be the case, the student could face school consequences as well as possible referral to QPS.

Even where consent is obtained for such recording, the school will not tolerate images or sound captured by personal technology devices on the school premises or elsewhere being disseminated to others, if it is done for the purpose of causing embarrassment to individuals or the school, for the purpose of bullying¹ or harassment, including racial and sexual harassment, or where without such intent, a reasonable person would conclude that such outcomes may have or will occur.

Students involved in:

- Recording; and / or
- Disseminating material (through text messaging, display, internet uploading etc); and / or
- Knowingly being a subject of a recording

Breach of this policy may be subject to discipline (including suspension and recommendation for exclusion). Students should note that the recording or dissemination of images that are considered indecent (such as nudity or sexual acts involving children), is against the law and if detected by the school will result in a referral to QPS.

Text Communication:

The sending of text messages that contain obscene language and / or threats of violence may amount to bullying and or harassment or even stalking, may subject the sender to discipline and possible referral to QPS. Students who receive such text messages at school should ensure they keep the message as evidence and bring the matter to the attention of the school administration.

Recording Private Conversations and the Invasion of Privacy Act 1971

It is important that all members of the school community understand that under the *Invasion of Privacy Act 1971* a 'person is guilty of an offence against this Act if the person uses a listening device to overhear, record, monitor or listen to a private conversation'. It is also an offence under the Act for a person who has overhead, recorded, monitored or listened to a conversation to which he / she is not a party, to publish or communicate the substance or meaning of the conversation to others.

Students need to understand that some conversations are private and therefore to overhear, record and the such private conversations may be in breach of this Act, unless consent to the recording is appropriately obtained.

Government

Special Circumstances Arrangement

Students who require the use of a personal technology device in circumstances that would contravene this policy (for example, to assist with a medical condition or other disability or for a special project) should negotiate a special circumstances arrangement with the Deputy Principal or Principal.

¹Education Queensland does not tolerate bullying behaviour at schools. This includes bullying conducted by electronic means.



Procedures for Preventing and Responding to Incidents of Bullying

Defining bullying

People are often bullied because of a perceived difference. The difference can be related to culture, gender, sexuality, mental ability or disability, religion, body size and physical appearance, age, or economical background. Bullying behaviours are also displayed when people enter into a new school, workplace, country, social group or even sporting team.

There are many ways a person can be bullied. Most definitions agree that there are five main types of bullying behaviour:

- Physical hitting, kicking, taking belongings, damaging property
- Verbal name calling, racist remarks, insulting, threats, nasty emails or text messages
- Social spreading nasty stories, excluding from groups, ignoring
- **Psychological / emotional** stalked, intimidated, manipulated, given dirty looks
- **Cyber** use of text messages, websites, blogs, mobile phones, chat rooms, email or SMS to send messages or images intending to threaten, harass or humiliate their peers.

Usually bullying has common features:

- It is deliberate, hurtful behaviour.
- It is often repeated over a period of time.
- It is difficult for those being bullied to defend themselves.
- It is often difficult for those who bully to learn new social behaviours.
- The person who bullies has, and exercises power inappropriately over another.

What bullying is not:

Many distressing behaviours are not examples of bullying, even though they are unpleasant and often require teacher intervention and management. There are three socially unpleasant situations that are often confused with bullying:

Mutual conflict

In mutual conflict situations, there is an argument or disagreement between students but not an imbalance of power. Both parties are upset and usually both want a resolution to the problem. However, unresolved mutual conflict sometimes develops into a bullying situation with one person becoming targeted repeatedly for retaliation in a onesided way.

Social rejection or dislike

Unless the social rejection is directed towards someone specific and involves deliberate and repeated attempts to cause distress, exclude or create dislike by others, it is not bullying.

• Single episode acts

Single episodes of nastiness or physical aggression are not the same as bullying. If a student is verbally abused or pushed on one occasion they are not being bullied.

Nastiness or physical aggression that is directed towards many different students is not the same as bullying.



Defining Cyber Bullying:

- Cyber bullying is when one person is targeted by another through the use of digital technology, mobile communication devices or through the internet. This can involve students using, for example, websites, blogs, mobile phones, chat rooms, email or SMS to send messages or images intending to threaten, harass or humiliate their peers.
- Cyber bullying usually involves systematic communication over a period of time but can involve a one-off communication such as a message containing an indication of serious intended harm or humiliation. As the bullying action is delivered via the written word or through images, the target can read or view (and therefore by affected by) the same action repeatedly over time.

As inappropriate use of technology can have detrimental effects for all parties involved. The use of personal technology devices at Currimundi State School is clearly defined in this Code of Conduct in the section – Use of Mobile Phones and other Devices.

Bullying - Identify, Cope, Prevent (RIC Publications)

The teaching resource can be used to support the focus. The program is also revisited throughout the year if required. 'This series provides developmental activities to promote positive attitudes in students, forestalling the development of injurious, bullying behaviour.'

The main focus areas of the series:

- What is bullying?
- Why do people bully?
- How does bullying make you feel?
- What can you do?

The series provides teacher information, discussion points and reproducible lesson activities across the lower, middle and upper sections of the school.

Cyber Bullying – Unit of Work

As cyber bullying is a contemporary phenomenon that can have serious repercussions for school-aged young people, Currimundi State School teachers can use lessons that have been developed from the resources from

Cybersmart website - http://www.esafety.gov.au

Developed by the Australian Communications and Media Authority, Cybersmart is part of the Australian Government's cyber safety program.

'Cybersmart provides activities, resources and practical advice to help **young kids, kids, teens** and **parents** safely enjoy the online word.'

Parade Focus

During the anti-bullying focus, a parade address will reiterate the anti-bullying message. This is also an opportunity to share concerns and ensure students understand the anti-bullying expectations as well as the consequences accompanying bullying or inappropriate behaviours.

School Newsletter

During the designated focused teaching time, parent information tips, helpful websites and school news relating to bullying is published in the school newsletter.



Reporting Bullying

Students are actively encouraged to report any incidents of bullying that they are subject to or that they overhear to any member of staff. They should also report any negative feelings they are encountering. The most likely source of help is the class teacher, the class aide, sector Deputy Principal, well-being officer or any other member of staff that they see and feel confident with.

Responding to Bullying

We recognise the need to provide intervention and support to all students involved in incidents of bullying, including cyberbullying.

Students who have been subject or witness to bullying have access to a range of internal support staff, as identified in the Student Support Network section earlier in this document. Students are, however, also encouraged to approach any staff member with whom they feel comfortable sharing their concerns, regardless of their role in the school. All staff at Currimundi State School are familiar with the response expectations to reports of bullying, and will act quickly to ensure students' concerns are addressed. Depending on the nature of the reported bullying incident, a formal plan of action may be developed and documented to support the implementation of strategies to assist the student.

Students who engage in bullying behaviours towards others will also be provided with support to assist them to use more socially acceptable and appropriate behaviours in their interactions. This includes and not limited to restorative discussions, counselling, social development programs, referral to mental health services or involvement in a restorative justice strategy. School disciplinary measures may also be used to reinforce the seriousness with which the community takes all incidents of bullying. These measures may include internal school suspension, withdrawal from social events or celebrations or more severe punishments such as suspension or exclusion from school.

Preventing of bullying and educating

Network for Student Support:

At Currimundi we work hard to develop a positive, caring environment within our school. We have high expectations that students come to school in a safe, secure and well-mannered setting and that they are confident in talking to our staff about any issues they may be facing. Students are actively encouraged to report any negative feelings they are encountering. The most likely source of help is the class teacher, the class aide, sector Deputy Principal, well-being officer or any other member of staff that the child sees and feels confident with. They can also report via a link on our website, "Ask for Help" if they or their parents have access to the internet. These referrals go straight the Deputy Principals.

Other forms of support are explicitly taught through the curriculum:

CURRA Kids Stand Tall Program

The strategy is taught school wide at the beginning of each year and is constantly reinforced throughout the year.

The Stand Tall Program is a strategic way to deal with bullying. Students are taught the processes and are given practical examples of its application. Lessons may include role plays, modelling and scenario discussions. Middle and upper school students are introduced to the concepts passive, assertive and aggressive responses.



The CURRA Kids Stand Tall Program consists of three steps:

- TALK Friendly "I" message
 Firm "I" message
 Stop or I will report
- WALK Walk away
- SQUAW Report to the teacher / staff



Educative Approach

Currimundi State School implements a whole school anti-bullying program, teaching students the knowledge and skills to enable them to confidently deal with situations where they may encounter bullying, including cyber bullying, behaviours. As well as undertaking lessons to know what bullying is and how, as individuals, they may respond, students are encouraged to report bullying.

To prevent or minimise the impact of cyber bullying, Currimundi State School has adopted a proactive approach to educate parents and students with the necessary skills and awareness to communicate responsibility via digital technology.

An educative approach addresses the following aspects:

- Increasing empathy by teaching students that the perceived anonymity of the online world does not reduce the harm that can be caused.
- Encouraging supportive bystander involvement amongst peer groups.
- Awareness and understanding that digital footprints provide data and evidence to track those who offend/
- Understanding the legal ramifications (Section 474 of the Criminal Code Act 1995).

Off campus incidents may be addressed by the school, if they have impact on a student (in their role as a student) or if they adversely affect the safety and / or wellbeing of a student whilst they are at the school.

It is important to remember that the **Student Protection Policy SMS-PR-012** requires Currimundi State School to report student harm caused by the actions of another student, including criminal offences, directly to the Ouronsland Police Service.



The teaching program outlined in Currimundi Anti-Bullying Program is a proactive approach designed to educate students with preventative and responsive strategies.

Responding to Bullying - Procedural Flowchart for dealing with incidences of bullying

Bullying is a form of aggressive behaviour which is usually hurtful, deliberate, persistent and repeated.



Working Together to Keep Currimundi State School Safe

We can work together to keep knives out of school. At Currimundi State School:

- 1. Every student has the right to feel safe and be safe at school.
- 2. No knives are allowed to be taken to school by students.
- 3. There is no reason for a student to have a knife at school, and it is against the law for a student to have a knife at school.

If a student has a knife a school, they can expect serious consequences, such as suspension.

What kinds of knife are banned?

- 1. No knives of any type are allowed at school or any item that can be used as a weapon, for example a chisel.
- 2. Knives needed for school activities will be provided by the school, and the use of them will be supervised by school staff.
- 3. Currimundi State School can take tough action against a student who brings a knife to school.
- 4. If a student has a knife at school, principals can inform the police.
- 5. Possessing a knife at school may result in serious disciplinary consequences, e.g. suspension
- 6. School property such as desks or lockers may be searched if the principal suspects that a student has a knife on or in school property.
- 7. If the principal suspects the student has a knife in their bag, the bag may be temporarily confiscated until police arrive.
- 8. If the student does have a knife at school, it can be confiscated by the principal and given to the police.

How can parents help to keep Currimundi State School safe?

- 1. Make sure your child knows what the laws and rules are about knives.
- 2. Do not include knives or knife tools in children's lunch boxes, pencil cases or craft kits.

Network of student support

Students at Currimundi State School are supported through positive acknowledgement and a system of universal, targeted and intensive behaviour supports by:

•

- Parents
- Teachers
- Administration Staff
- Behaviour Support Consultant
- Senior Guidance Officer

- Student Support Services Committee
- HOSES
- Family Doorways (Salvation Army)
- Advisory Visiting Teachers
- School Chaplain

Support is also available through the following Government and community agencies:

- Disability Services Queensland
- Queensland Health
- Police
- EVOLVE Therapeutic Services
- Laurel House
- Link in Assoc
- Integrated Family & Youth Services

- Child and Youth Mental Health
- Department of Communities (Child Safety)
- Local Council
- AIM Team
- Lifeline
- Juvenile Justice



Complaints about bullying

If after speaking with the class teacher you are not happy with how a situation has been resolved, please contact the relevant sector Deputy Principal via the school office or direct through email.

Should the complaint already be with the Deputy Principal and parents / carers are not happy with how the situation has been handled, please contact the School Principal.

If after the school has exhausted efforts to solve any underlying issues parents / carers are still unhappy – please refer your complaint to North Coast Regional Office.



Appropriate use of social media

The internet, mobile phones and social media provide wonderful opportunities for students to network and socialise online. While these technologies provide positive platforms for sharing ideas, they also have the potential to cause pain and suffering to individuals, groups or even whole communities.

At Currimundi State School we are aware that the majority of our younger students will not have access to mobile devices and almost all should not have access to social media platforms due to age restraints. Some students do however have access and this guide is aimed at them and their parents / carers.

It's important to remember that sometimes negative comments posted about the school community have a greater impact than expected. This guide offers some information about how to use social media in relation to comments or posts about the school community. Reputations of students, teachers, schools, principals and even parents can be permanently damaged — and in some cases, serious instances of inappropriate online behaviour are dealt with by police and the court system.

Being aware of a few simple strategies can help keep the use of social media positive and constructive:

- Before you post something online, ask yourself if the community or individual really need to know. Is it relevant, positive and helpful?
- Remember that what you post online is a direct reflection of who you are. People will potentially form lasting
 opinions of you based on what you post online.
- Be a good role model. If things get heated online consider logging out and taking a few moments to relax and think. Hasty, emotive responses could inflame situations unnecessarily.
- Be mindful when commenting, try to keep general and avoid posting anything that could identify individuals.
- A few years ago parents may have discussed concerns or issues with their friends at the school gate. Today with the use of social media, online discussions between you and your close friends can very quickly be shared with a much wider audience, potentially far larger than intended.
- Taking a few moments to think about the content you are about to post could save upset, embarrassment, and possible legal action.
- As a parent you have a role in supervising and regulating your child's online activities at home and its impact on the reputation and privacy of others. Parents are their child's first teachers so they will learn online behaviours from you.

Is it appropriate to comment on post about schools, staff or students?

Parental and community feedback is important for schools and the department. If you have a compliment, complaint or enquiry about an issue at school, the best approach is to speak directly to the school about the matter, rather than discussing it in a public forum.

While many schools use social media to update parents of school notices, the department prefers that parents contact schools directly with a compliment, complaint or enquiry due to privacy considerations. Imagine if your doctor, accountant or banking institution tried to contact you to discuss important matters via Facebook.

If you have raised an issue with a school or know that another person has, consider refraining from discussing those details on social media, particularly the names of anyone involved.

Keep comments calm and polite, just as you would over the telephone or by email. If you encounter negative or derogatory content online which involves the school, hinders a child's learning and/or affects the school community at large, contact the school principal.

Possible civil or criminal ramifications of online commentary

A serious instance of inappropriate online behaviour may constitute a criminal offence and become



a police matter. For example, online content may substantiate the offence of 'using a carriage service to menace, harass or cause offence' (Criminal Code Act 1995 (Cth) s. 474.17). School staff may contact their union or obtain personal legal advice if they feel that online content seriously impacts their reputation. Defamatory online content may give rise to litigation under the Defamation Act 2005 (Qld).

What about other people's privacy?

If you upload photos of yourself (student) or your children (parent/carer), be mindful of who might be in the background. You might be happy to share your own or your child's successes with your friends and family via social media, but some parents are not. If you are tagging or naming students, consider that other parents may not want their child's name attached to images online.

What if I encounter problem content?

Taking the following steps may help resolve the issue in a constructive way:

- 1. refrain from responding
- 2. take a screen capture or print a copy of the concerning online content
- 3. if you consider problem content to be explicit, pornographic or exploitative of minors, you should keep a record of the URL of the page containing that content but NOT print or share it. The URL can be provided to the school principal, or police, as needed for escalation of serious concerns
- 4. block the offending user
- 5. report the content to the social media provider.

Cybersafety and Reputation Management (CRM)

The Department of Education employs a dedicated team of experts to assist in maintaining the integrity of the department's reputation with regards to cybersafety and reputation management issues, effectively leading the development and implementation of departmental cybersafety processes.

This team provides **direct support for schools** to respond to concerns of inappropriate online behaviour and misuse of information and communication technology.

The team provides a <u>guide for parents</u> with important information about cybersafety and cyberbullying, and suggestions about what you can do if your child is a target or responsible for inappropriate online behaviour.

The team has also developed a <u>Cyberbullying and reputation management</u> (Department employees only) resource to assist principals in incident management.

For more information about cybersafety sessions at your school, or for assistance with issues relating to online behaviour, contact the <u>team</u> (Department employees only).



Cyberbullying - response flowchart for state school staff

How to manage online incidents that impact your school

Student protection

If at any point the principal forms a reasonable suspicion that a student has been harmed or is at risk of harm, they have a responsibility to respond in accordance with the <u>Student</u> protection procedure.

Explicit images

If the investigation involves naked or explicit images of children, staff should not save, copy, forward or otherwise deal with the content, as per the Temporary removal of student property by school staff procedure. This includes onto OneSchool records. Refer to the investigative process outlined in 'Responding to incidents involving naked or explicit images of children' from the <u>Online Incident</u> management guidelines.

Help

Refer to the Online incident management guidelines for more details, or if assistance is required, contact the Cybersafety and Reputation Management (CSRM)team on 3034 5035 or Cybersafety.ReputationManagement@qed.qld. gov.au.

Does the online behaviour/incident negatively impact the good order and management of the school?



Restrictive Practices

School staff at Currimundi State School need to respond to student behaviour that presents a risk of physical harm to the student themselves or others. It is anticipated that most instances of risky behaviour can be de-escalated and resolved quickly. On some rarer occasions, a student's behaviour may continue to escalate and staff need to engage immediately with positive and proactive strategies aimed at supporting the student to manage their emotional arousal and behaviour.

In some very rare situations, where there is immediate risk of physical harm to the student or other people, and when all other alternative strategies have failed to reduce the risk, it may be necessary for staff to use restrictive practices.

The use of restrictive practices will always be as a last resort, when there is no other available option for reducing immediate risk to the student, staff or other people. Restrictive practices are not used for punishment or as a disciplinary measure.

The department's Restrictive practices procedure is written with consideration for the protection of everyone's human rights, health, safety and welfare. There are six fundamental principles:

- 1. Regard to the human rights of those students
- 2. Safeguards students, staff and others from harm
- 3. Ensures transparency and accountability
- 4. Places importance on communication and consultation with parents and carers
- 5. Maximises the opportunity for positive outcomes, and
- 6. Aims to reduce or eliminate the use of restrictive practices.

Very rarely restrictive practices will be planned and staff will employ, when necessary, pre-arranged strategies and methods (of physical restraint/ mechanical restraint/ clinical holding) which are based upon behaviour risk assessment or clinical health need and are recorded in advance. The use of planned strategies will only be where there is foreseeable immediate risk consistent with the Restrictive practice's procedure.

Seclusion will not be used as a planned response and will only be used in serious circumstances for managing an unforeseeable situation in an emergency. It will be used for the shortest time possible and in a safe area that presents no additional foreseeable risk to the student. In such emergencies, a staff member will observe the student at all times and seclusion will cease as soon as possible.

Following the use of any restrictive practice, a focused review will help staff to understand how they responded to the risk in any incident that involved the use of a restrictive practice. Staff will consider whether there are other options for managing a similar situation in the future. This strategy works well for reducing the use of restrictive practices.

All incidents of restrictive practices will be recorded and reported in line with departmental procedures.



Critical Incidents

It is important that all staff have a consistent understanding of how to respond to emergency situations or critical incidents involving severe problem behaviour. This consistency ensures that appropriate actions are taken to ensure that both students and staff are kept safe.

An **emergency situation or critical incident** is defined as an occurrence that is sudden, urgent and usually unexpected, or an occasion requiring immediate action.

Severe problem behaviour is defined as behaviour of such intensity, frequency, or duration that the physical safety of the student or others is likely to be placed in serious jeopardy.

<u>Always notify another member of staff that you are dealing with an emergency or critical incident – this can be done</u> <u>in person, via telephone or by sending another student as a runner.</u>

Basic defusing strategies:

Avoid escalating the problem behaviour

Avoid shouting, cornering the student, moving into the student's space, touching or grabbing the student, sudden responses, sarcasm, becoming defensive, communicating anger and frustration through body language.

Maintain calmness, respect and detachment

Model the behaviour you want students to adopt, stay calm and controlled, use a serious measured tone, choose your language carefully, avoid humiliating the student, be matter of fact and avoid responding emotionally.

Approach the student in a non-threatening manner

Move slowly and deliberately toward the problem situation, speak privately to the student/s where possible, speak calmly and respectfully, minimise body language, keep a reasonable distance, establish eye level position, be brief, stay with agenda, acknowledge cooperation, withdraw if the situation escalates.

Follow through

If the student starts displaying the appropriate behaviour, briefly acknowledge their choice and re-direct other students' attention towards their usual work / activity. If the student continues with the problem behaviour then remind them of the expected school behaviour and identify consequences of continued unacceptable behaviour.

Debrief

Help the student to identify the sequence of events that led to the unacceptable behaviour, pinpoint decision moments during the sequence of events, evaluate decisions made, and identify acceptable decision options for future situations.



Physical Intervention:

Staff may make legitimate use of physical intervention if all non-physical interventions have been exhausted and a student is:

- Physically assaulting another student or staff member
- Posing an immediate danger to him/herself or to others

Appropriate physical intervention may be used to ensure that Currimundi State School's duty of care to protect students and staff from foreseeable risks of injury is met. The use of physical intervention is only considered appropriate where the immediate safety of others is threatened and the strategy is used to prevent injury.

Physical intervention can involve coming between students, blocking a student's path, leading a student by the hand / arm, shepherding a student by placing a hand in the centre of the upper back, removing potentially dangerous objects and, in extreme situations, using more forceful restraint.

It is important that all staff understand:

- Physical intervention cannot be used as a form of punishment
- Physical intervention must not be used when a less severe response can effectively resolve the situation
- The underlying function of the behaviour

Physical intervention is not to be used as a response to:

- Property destruction
- School disruption
- Refusal to comply
- Verbal threats
- Leaving a classroom or the school, unless student safety is clearly threatened.

Any physical intervention made must:

- Be reasonable in the particular circumstances
- Be in proportion to the circumstances of the incident
- Always be a minimum force needed to achieve the desired result, and
- Take into account the age, stature, disability, understanding and gender of the student.

Record Keeping

Each instance involving the use of physical intervention must be formally documented. The following records must be maintained.

Health and Safety Incident Record

OfflineHealthAndSafetyIncidentForm.doc



Related Procedures and Guidelines

These are related procedures or guidelines which school staff use to inform decisions and actions around matters associated with students wellbeing, behaviour and learning. *This may include reference to*

- Cancellation of enrolment
- Complex case management
- Customer complaints management policy and procedure
- Disclosing personal information to law enforcement agencies
- Enrolment in state primary, secondary and special schools
- Hostile people on school premises, wilful disturbance and trespass
- Inclusive education
- Police and Child Safety Officer interviews and searches with students
- Restrictive practices
- Refusal to enrol Risk to safety or wellbeing
- Student discipline
- Student dress code
- Student protection
- Supporting students' mental health and wellbeing
- Temporary removal of student property by school staff
- Use of ICT systems
- Using mobile devices



Complaints

Currimundi State School staff are committed to ensuring every student is supported to feel safe, welcome and valued in our school. There may, however, be occasions where parents need to raise a concern or make a complaint about an issue you feel is adversely affecting their child's education.

All Queensland state schools are committed to ensuring that all complaints - whether they relate to a school staff member or a school's operations - are dealt with in a fair and equitable manner. As a parent or carer, you can express dissatisfaction with the service or action of the Department of Education or its staff, including decisions made or actions taken in a school and/or by the local regional office.

As a complainant, it is your responsibility to:

- give us a clear idea of the issue or concern and your desired solution
- provide all the relevant information when making the complaint
- understand that addressing a complaint can take time
- cooperate respectfully and understand that unreasonable, abusive, or disrespectful conduct will not be tolerated
- let us know if something changes, including if help is no longer needed.

The Department of Education may not proceed with your complaint if your conduct is unreasonable.

In most instances, staff members are told of complaints made about them and offered the right of reply. A complainant also has the right to have a support person throughout the process.

The following three-step approach assists parents and school staff in reaching an outcome that is in the best interests of the student:

Early resolution: discuss your complaint with the school

The best place to raise any concerns is at the point where the problem or issue arose. You can make an appointment at the school to discuss your complaint with your child's teacher or the principal. You are also welcome to lodge your complaint in writing or over the phone. You can also make a complaint through <u>QGov</u>.Complaints may be lodged by telephone, writing or in electronic format. Email addresses can be accessed through the <u>schools directory</u>.

Internal review: contact the local Regional Office

If, after taking the early resolution step, you are dissatisfied with the outcome of your complaint or how the complaint was handled, you can ask the local <u>regional office</u> to conduct a review. You need to submit a <u>Request for internal review form</u> within 28 days of receiving the complaint outcome.

External review: contact a review authority

If you are dissatisfied after the internal review, you may wish to contact a review authority, such as the Queensland Ombudsman, and request an independent, external review. More information about external review options is available at www.ombudsman.qld.gov.au.

Some matters need to be handled in a different way to school matters and will be referred to other areas in the department. These include:

- issues about harm, or risk of harm, to a student attending a state school, which must be managed in accordance with the <u>Student protection procedure</u>.
- complaints about corrupt conduct, public interest disclosures; or certain decisions made on the legislation, which will be dealt with as outlined in the <u>Excluded complaints factsheet</u>.



Legislative Delegations

Legislation

Included below are links to relevant legislation that inform the overall Student discipline procedure.

- Anti-Discrimination Act 1991 (Qld)
- Child Protection Act 1999 (Qld)
- Commonwealth Disability Discrimination Act 1992
- Commonwealth Disability Standards for Education 2005
- Criminal Code Act 1899 (Qld)
- Education (General Provisions) Act 2006
- Education (General Provisions) Regulation 2017
- Human Rights Act 2019 (Qld)
- Information Privacy Act 2009 (Qld)
- Judicial Review Act 1991 (Qld)
- Right to Information Act 2009 (Qld)
- Police Powers and Responsibilities Act 2000 (Qld)
- Workplace Health and Safety Act 2011 (Qld)
- Workplace Health and Safety Regulation 2011 (Cwth)

Related Policies and Procedures

- Statement of expectations for a disciplined school environment policy
- Safe, Supportive and Disciplined School Environment
- Inclusive Education
- Enrolment in State Primary, Secondary and Special Schools
- Student Dress Code
- Student Protection
- Hostile People on School Premises, Wilful Disturbance and Trespass
- Police and Child Safety Officer Interviews with Students, and Police Searches at State Educational Institutions
- Acceptable Use of the Department's Information, Communication and Technology (ICT) Network and Systems
- Managing Electronic Identities and Identity Management
- Appropriate Use of Mobile Telephones and other Electronic Equipment by Students
- Temporary Removal of Student Property by School Staff

Other Related Resources

- National Safe Schools Framework
- Working Together resources for schools
- Cybersafety and schools resources
- Bullying. No way!
- Take a Stand Together
- Safe Schools Hub
- Code of Conduct for School Students Travelling on Buses



Delegations

Under the Education (General Provisions) Act 2006, state school principals are responsible for "controlling and regulating student discipline in the school".

Principals are afforded a number of **non-delegable powers** to assist them to meet this obligation, including the authority to suspend, exclude or cancel the enrolment of a student at the school. These decision-making responsibilities cannot be delegated to other staff in the school, such as deputy principals.

The details of these responsibilities are outlined in the legislative instruments of delegation and instruments of authorisation provided below:

- Education (General Provisions) Act 2006 Director-General's delegations
- Education (General Provisions) Act 2006 Minister's delegations
- Education (General Provisions) Act 2006 Director-General's authorisations
- Education (General Provisions) Regulation 2006 Minister's delegations
- Education (General Provisions) Regulation 2017 Director-General's delegations



Appendix 1 – Currimundi State School Procedures – Staff and Students

| Time | Staff | Students |
|-----------------------------|---|---|
| | In room by 8:40, preferably with door open to be | e Quietly and calmly wait in year group area or in under cover area. |
| Before school | available to see any parent / carer / students with need | ^s No ball games |
| | Be ready to greet class and welcome them into room by | Start to move to class at the start of the musical bell |
| On the bell | the end of the musical bell. | Be sitting in two lines, outside classroom (or agreed area) by the end of the musical bell |
| | Be prepared for the teaching day | Be prepared for learning with all necessary equipment |
| Start of day | Complete morning roll and submit | Organise chairs on entry to room as required by class teacher including those of absent students |
| | | Be ready to work with minimum instruction |
| | Duty staff circulate the eating areas | Students to be seated in designated area |
| | Duty staff to dismiss students once satisfied area is clear | Eating only in approved area (not oval / walking) |
| Lunch breaks | and tidy | Students to be dismissed by duty staff once area is deemed clean and tidy |
| | | Students walk from eating areas via pathways to oval and play areas |
| | | Students line up for tuck shop after the play bell sounds |
| Movement | Model expectations to students through own behaviou | r Students to walk throughout the school at all times except when on oval. |
| | | Walk between classes in 2 lines, walking on the left. |
| | Ensure all students go in pairs to the toilets and on any | /Encouraged to go at break times. |
| Toilets | errands in school sessions | Always use toilet hygiene |
| | Be punctual. | Stay in designated areas. |
| | If delayed, contact the office urgently. | Go to a covered play area if without a hat. |
| | Remain in duty are until relieved. Resolve issue later if | Do not climb trees |
| Play times and pla areas | Wear a hat for own safety and as an example to | Game equipment and big play balls must only be used on the oval or basketball court in the case of basketballs. |
| | students. | Tackling, pushing and rough play are not permitted. |
| | Be mobile within duty area. | All fighting including play fighting is forbidden. |
| | Periodically check student toilets as applicable. | Sticks and stones are to remain on the ground. |
| | Actively monitor playground conduct. Use 'Walk with Me' as a technique to defuse | Take turns when waiting to use equipment. |
| | emergence of inappropriate conduct or as a | Take care of gardens. Do not enter a garden bed. |
| | consequence of a minor breach. | Students are not permitted to take shoes off to play |
| | | Play is not permitted without shoes or a hat. |
| | Reinforce importance of courtesy, consideration and acceptance at all time. Acknowledge incidents where these occur | Ensure good manners are used and demonstrated at all times. Show the true CURRA Kid values |
| Other | Reinforce expectation that litter either be placed in bins or returned home in lunchboxes. | 5 |
| | Monitor tuckshop lines for orderly conduct and courtesy to tuckshop personnel. | |
| | Bicycles and skateboards must not be ridden within the school grounds. | |
| | Model good manners, respect, courtesy | |
| | Model sun smart expectations including wide brim hat, | - |
| | clothing | Nail polish is not be worn. |
| Dress Code | | Long hair must be tied back if it is identified as a safety issue during school activities (both male & female students). |
| | | |



Appendix 2 – CURRA Kid Expectation Matrix

| Area | We Are Caring | We Show Respect | We Are Responsible | We Are Active Learners |
|---|---|---|--|---|
| All Settings Weeks 1-3 (<u>Tree map</u> sub headings caring, respect, responsible and active learning) | Keep hands, feet and objects to yourself. Solve problems with polite words. Stay / Play in safe designated areas. Use hygienic practices. Care for the natural environment. | Follow staff directions. Show Currimundi Courtesy. Keep noise to an appropriate level. Let others have their space. Treat all property with care. Wear full school uniform. Use Talk, Walk, and Squawk. TALK – Give friendly "I" message. Give a firm "I" message. Stop or I'll report. WALK - walk away. SQUAWK - report to an adult. | Be on time. Leave valuable items at home. Use equipment and materials correctly. Put litter in bins. Follow school Internet Agreement and social network codes of conduct. Be honest. | Be prepared and ready. Seek help when needed. |
| Learning Environments Weeks 1 -3 (Bubble map) | Sit on chairs safely. Walk inside. Ask permission to leave the classroom. Only enter a classroom when a teacher is present. | Raise hand to speak. Listen to others speak. | Take home and / or return notes. Keep your classroom tidy. | Complete homework on time. Ride The Waves To Success – Strive For Excellence |
| Play Area week 4 (cause & effect than of an effect than of an of rough play) | Play school approved game rules.Play in the correct area.Use play equipment safely. | Show good sportsmanship. Share school equipment and play areas. | Borrow and return equipment using the correct system. | |
| Eating Areas Week 5 (Bubble Map) | Sit while eating your own food.Use your own drink bottle. | | Eat in the designated area. Pack lunch boxes and bags away. Put your hand up and wait to be dismissed by staff. | |
| Toilets Week 6 (<u>Tree map</u>) | Wash hands. 1 person per cubicle. Use year/ age appropriate toilets. Take a partner with you when you visit the toilets. | Let others have their privacy. | Use the facilities correctly. Use toilets before class and during recess times. | |
| | Sit quietly in lines.Keep walkways clear.Walk safely on concrete. | Wait quietly outside buildings. | Stop play on first bell, visit toilet, wash hands, have a drink and line up. Use covered walkways in wet weather. | |
| Transit Week 7, 8 (coue & effect/rom injuny- running on concrete) | Walk bike / scooter while in school grounds. Follow road rules. Use supervised crossings and obey crossing supervisors. Follow the Bus Code of Conduct. | Wait in a safe manner when waiting for your parents to collect you after school. | | |
| Currimunchi Café Week 9 (Double bubble compare café to McDonalds line up) | Line up sensibly in single file. | Follow directions of Currimunchi Café staff. Respect others position in the queue. | Place lunch orders in classroom tuckshop box. Line up at 2nd bell for ice blocks. Only line up at tuckshop if purchasing or collecting orders. | |
| Off campus (Double bubble compare off campus toin campus) | Stay with group. | Follow directions from instructors / volunteers / group leaders. | [] ² Transmittant | Participate fully in individual / or group activities. |

Queensland Government

Appendix 3 – Green tickets for 'In class' rewards





Appendix 4 – Blue tickets for around school rewards





Appendix 5 – 'Super Surfer' certificates





Appendix 6 – Movement through the tiered and levelled system

Currimundi State School – Tiered and Levelled system



Appendix 7 – Routine, minor and major behaviours

| | ROUTINE BEHAVIOURS | MINOR BEHAVIOUR | MAJOR BEHAVIOUR |
|---------------------------|--|--|--|
| | Running on concrete / | Repeated running on concrete / | Physical assault (inc fighting) |
| | bitumen | bitumen after warnings | Threatening behaviours, including but not limited to physical, verbal and psychological. |
| | Out of school uniform | Repeated out of school uniform | Dangerous safety breaches |
| | Riding bikes, scooters, skateboard etc on school grounds | Repeated or dangerous riding bikes, scooters, skateboard etc on school grounds | |
| We are CARING | | | Substance abuse |
| | Swinging on building structures | Repeated or dangerous swinging on building structures | Possession / distribution of pornographic materials. |
| | Incorrect use / care of equipment | Repeated incorrect use / care of equipment | |
| | Playing non-approved school games | Repeated playing non-approved school games Minor physical contact | Possession, use or sale of illegal substances / items |
| | Out of bounds | Repeated out of bounds | Persistent minor behaviour |
| | Bad sportsmanship | Repeated bad sportsmanshipMinor swearing | Wilful damage or misuse of property or stealing |
| | Spitting or chewing gum | Repeated spitting or chewing gum | Verbal, written or gestural obscenity |
| | Littering | Repeated litteringRepeated disruption in class | Refusal to follow adult directions |
| We show RESPECT | | Not following instructions Property misconduct | Verbal or written obscene abuse of staff |
| | | Insolence | Repeated insolence |
| | | Minor bullying / harassmentRepeated uniform violations | Major bully / harassment / defamation |
| | | | Persistent minor behaviour |
| | Forgetting equipment | Repeatedly forgetting equipmentIT misconduct | Leaving school grounds without permission |
| | Untidy work areas | | • Use of mobile phone in any part of |
| We are | Mobile phone not handed in to office | the office –repeated | the school for voicemail, email, text message or filming without |
| RESPONSIBLE | | Misconduct involving an objectDishonesty | authorisation. |
| | | Inappropriate use of toilets | |
| | Lack of care for the | Repeated lack of care for the | Inappropriate use of technology |
| | natural environmentNot being water wise | natural environmentRepeated not being water wise | (e.g. internet, computers) |
| | | Repeated incomplete work (class) | Continual task refusal |
| | home) | or home) | |
| We are ACTIVE LEARNERS | | Task refusalNon-compliant with routine | Repeated disruption of others' learning |
| | Disorganised or late | | Persistent minor behaviours |



Appendix 8 – Minor Behaviour Incident Grey Card Notification



Date:

Dear Parents/Carers

Your child has received a grey card as a consequence of an inappropriate behaviour choice, the details of which are shown on the card on the right.

Currimundi State School's Code of Conduct for Students operates on a level system. All students start the term at Expected Level. Minor problem behaviour or consistent routine breaches of rules or expectations will result in a Grey Card. A student accruing three grey cards within a two-week period will incur a level drop and a reflection room referral. Additional consequences are placed as a student changes level.

Students can improve their level with 10 consecutive school days of sustained improvement in behaviour choices.

As a result of this Grey Card, your child is currently at the following level:

EXPECTED L1 L2 L3 L4

This is their.....card at this level. Please discuss this behaviour with your child and return the reply form as soon as possible to the class teacher.

Yours sincerely,

| ⊁ | | |
|---|------|--|

| GREY CARD - Minor Behaviour | | | | |
|---|---|--|--|--|
| Name: Class: Date: _ | Time: | | | |
| Main Behaviour | Secondary Behaviour | Location | | |
| Abusive language Minor Bullying Defiance Disrespect Disruption Dress code Property damage Minor Physical Aggression Other | Abusive language Minor Bullying Defiance Disrespect Disruption Dress code Property damage Minor Physical Aggression Other | Classroom Covered Area Hall Oval/Court Library SEP Toilets Walkways Bike Rack Other | | |
| Issued by: Additional Details | | | | |

To be completed by Parent/Carer and returned

| CHILD'S NAME: | CLASS: |
|--|--|
| I have received notification regarding the issue of an inappr | opriate behaviour card to my child. $ {\sf O}$ |
| I have discussed these behaviours with my child. | 0 |
| I would like to discuss this matter further with you. Please a time for an interview. (<i>Please note that an interview with th</i> PARENT/CARER SIGNATURE: | ne teacher is optional) |
| 63 | Queensland Government |

Appendix 9 – Behaviour Concern – 3 Grey Cards Reflection Notification



Date:

Dear Parent / Carer

This letter is to inform you that has accumulated three grey cards for failing to conform to the expected behaviours stated in our school's 'Code of Conduct for Students.' As a result of these behaviour choices, they have been issued a reflection slip and will be required to attend the 'Reflection Room' where the consequences of their behaviour will be discussed.

We would very much appreciate your assistance in helping your child understand the necessity for respecting and abiding by the expectations, which govern student behaviour at our school. We request that you discuss this situation with your child. Should your child continue to choose inappropriate behaviour, the school will find it necessary to meet with you to discuss these issues.

| Child's Name: | Class: |
|---|-----------------------|
| Date of grey cards: 1. | Comments if required: |
| 2. | |
| 3. | |
| Days in Reflection Room: | |
| Now on behaviour level: EXP L1 L2 L3 L4 (Class Teacher - Please circle one) | |

Yours sincerely

Class teacher



Appendix 10 – Major Behaviour Incident Reflection Notification



Date:

Dear Parent / Carer

This letter is to inform you that has chosen not to conform to the expected behaviours stated in our school's 'Code of Conduct for Students.' The behaviour choice was classed as a major issue and as a result, they have been issued a reflection slip and will be required to attend the 'Reflection Room' at first lunch where the consequences of their behaviour will be discussed.

Details of the incident are outlined on the slip below:

We would very much appreciate your assistance in helping your child understand the necessity for respecting and abiding by the expectations, which govern student behaviour at our school. Would you please discuss this situation with your child? Should your child continue to choose inappropriate behaviour, the school will find it necessary to meet with you to discuss these issues.

| Date of incident: | Main Behaviour | Secondary Behaviour | Location | | | |
|---|---|---|---|--|--|--|
| Time:(tick one only)Before schoolMorning sessionFirst breakMiddle sessionSecond breakAfternoon sessionOutside of school hours | Abusive language Minor Bullying Defiance Disrespect Disruption Dress code Property damage Minor Physical Aggression Other | Abusive language Minor Bullying Defiance Disrespect Disruption Dress code Property damage Minor Physical Aggression Other | Classroom Covered area Hall Oval/Court Library SEP Toilet Walkways Bike Rack Other | | | |
| Days in Reflection Room: Now on behaviour level: EXP L1 L2 L3 L4 (Class Teacher - Please | Referring Teacher: Details of Incident: | <u> </u> | | | | |
| circle one) Yours sincerely, | | | | | | |

Class teacher

Oueensland

Government

Appendix 11 – Behaviour reflection sheet











| Bill's Positive Choices | Tracker | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|----------------|---|------------------------|------------|-------------------------|---|--------|-----|--------------------|---------|---------------------|------------------|-----------------------|---|----------------|
| TARGETED BEHAVIOURS | Use v Follo | e positive words tha w school lassroom | t the clas and clas | s rules in | Exc OR Oka REI | | | es | | | Positive sequenc | gr pic | een thun ck someth | hat you ge 1bs up - y hing from y hinsequence | ou can your |
| Term 4, Wk | Monday | | | Tuesday | | | Wednes | day | | Thursda | ıy | | Friday | | |
| Session One | æ | | ę | | | ę | | | ę | | | ę | | | ę |
| First Break | | | ę | J | | ę | J | | ę | | | ę | | | - |
| Session Two | Þ | | ę | | | ę | | | ę | | | ę | | | ę |
| Second Break | J | | ę | | | ę | | | ę | | | ę | | | ę |
| Session Three | J | | ę | | | ę | | | ę | | | ę | | | ę |
| Student | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Teacher | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Parent | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | 68 | | - Queens Govern | | | | | | |

Appendix 13 – Play plan



STUDENT SUPPORT PLAN – Play Supervision

Student's Name: xxxxxxxx Class: xxxxx

Teachers:

Student Strengths:

Academically capable

Behaviour of Concern: Physical Misconduct (biting, hitting, kicking)

- Inability to see consequences for his actions
- Lack of social skills to develop friendly relationships with his peers
- Lack of self-control in playground situations; reacts impulsively

Target Behaviour: (What you want the child to be able to do)

- Keep hands and feet and objects to himself (also a classroom focus for behavioural)
- To develop workable relationships with his peers (in both the classroom and playground)

Preventative Strategies: (Proactive)

| STRATEGIES | BY WHOM | WHEN |
|--|--|--|
| DP to create a schedule for play supervision (to be reviewed on a regular basis). Xxxxxxx to participate in supervised activities during first lunch break (Library and SEP Activities/games) and supervised playground activities second break – see schedule attached) | Jill Pass SEP (Rita Jermyn) HOC (Bettina Houtsma) | Supervised play/activity options during both lunch breaks. |
| Xxxxxxx to choose activities based on his interest level | DP Jill | |
| Xxxxxx to invite / ask a friend to join him (Possible friends Josh, Jayden H) | HOC (Bettina Houtsma) | |
| Ensure Xxxxxxx understands the requirements for appropriate playground behaviours | Jill Pass | |
| Establish routines around play times. Designated eating spot Prior to play establish: (quiet talk) Who are you playing with today? How do you ask to play? Develop a support card for supervising staff to help Xxxxxx problem solve play issues: STOP – Look and listen – You feel because (problem) THINK – Problem solve – What could you do? (Think through options & consequences) DO – Decide – Do it! (Think of what you look and sound like to others) | Supervising staff (see duty roster) HOP Bettina Houtsma | Play times |
| Xxxxxx may need to have a 'chill-out' spot within the playground that he can go to in order to calm down, reflect on his behaviour and situation and turn his behaviour around. Report incident to Xxxxxxx's teacher. Record in Monitoring book/ ABC record chart (marble process from home-in class time) Grey card if Xxxxxxx's behaviours warrant this response. SEP HOSES office if Xxxxxxx's behaviours warrant this response | roster) | If Xxxxxx's behaviour is inappropriate or appears to be escalating |

Date Started: Plan discussed with Parent (date):

Plan Review:



Sighted and signed by:

| | Signature | | Signature | |
|------------------|-----------|-----------------|-----------|--|
| Class Teachers | | Class Teachers | | |
| Deputy Principal | | Principal | | |
| HOSES | | SEP Coordinator | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |

| | Help solve a playground problem |
|-------|---|
| STOP | Look and listen: You feel because (problem). |
| THINK | Problem solve: <i>What could you try?</i> |
| DO | Decide: Do it! |

| Who are y | Supervised Play ou playing with too ou ask to play? | lay? Repo | ort inappropriate viour to staff on v. immediatelv. | | |
|----------------------------|---|---------------------------------|---|------------------------------|------------------------------|
| Tm 1 | Mon | Tue | Wed | Thu | Fri |
| Prep Play 10:50 – 11:20 | DigiTech | Library Jigsaws & Puzzles | Library Colouring and Drawing | Library Games | SEP ipads |
| Prep Play 1:30 – 1:50 | Playground Soccer | Playground Organised Play | Playground Organised Play | Playground Organised Play | Playground Organised Play |



Appendix 14 – Re-entry from suspension plan



Re-entry meeting from suspension

Student:

Date:

Those Present:

- WHAT IS YOUR STUDENT'S PERSPECTIVE ON WHAT HAPPENED?
- WHAT IS THE SCHOOL'S PERSPECTIVE ON WHAT HAPPENED?

• HOW MIGHT YOUR STUDENT MAKE AMENDS (REPAIR DAMAGE TO THINGS OR RELATIONSHIPS)?

• HOW MIGHT THE SCHOOL SUPPORT BETTER OUTCOMES AND/OR REPAIR THE RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN THE SCHOOL (STAFF) AND YOUR STUDENT AND YOU?

• HOW WILL YOUR STUDENT RECONNECT ACADEMICALLY AND SOCIALLY AT SCHOOL TO AIM TOWARD SUCCESS?

• IMMEDIATE NEXT STEPS FROM SCHOOL, STUDENT AND PARENT /CARER?



Flowchart: Suspensions (1 – 10 days)

| | CONSIDER | Principal considers whether the student's behaviour constitutes grounds for suspension as per section.282 of the <i>Education (General Provisions) Act 2006</i> . |
|--|----------|--|
| | DOCUMENT | If the principal decides the behaviour meets one or more of the grounds for suspension under section.282 of the <i>Education</i> <i>(General Provisions) Act 2006</i> , they ensure documentation is completed to explain how they believe the student's behaviour meets the ground/s (e.g. explain how the behaviour constitutes misbehaviour). |
| | REFLECT | Principal arranges for the student and parent to have the opportunity to view the relevant evidence under consideration about the behaviour (e.g. reports, statements, other documents, video/audio recordings noting that a copy of the recordings should not be provided to the student or parent but they should be invited to view/hear the recordings at the school or elsewhere before the suspension decision is made). |
| | DISCUSS | Principal ensures the student and the parent are offered the opportunity to discuss the allegations with a school staff member and respond if they choose prior to the principal making a disciplinary decision. |
| | DECIDE | Principal makes the disciplinary decision to progress or cease the suspension process, including the start and end date of the suspension if relevant. |
| | NOTIFY | Principal or authorised officer tells the student and parent of the decision to suspend, the reasons for the suspension and the date on which it will commence, ensuring the suspension is completed in the current school year and does not extend over the summer holiday period into the new year. |
| | ARRANGE | Principal takes reasonable steps to ensure that parents have made appropriate supervision arrangements prior to the student leaving the school grounds, or alternatively isolate and supervise the student until such arrangements are made. |
| | APPOINT | Principal ensures a school staff member is appointed as the contact for the student and parent while suspension is in effect and ensures student and parent are advised of the contact information for this person. |
| | NOTICE | Principal ensures a record for 1–10 day suspension is created and a decision notice is prepared in OneSchool, and gives it to the student and parent as soon as practicable. |
| | RECORD | Principal ensures signed copies of decision notice (approved forms) and supporting materials relating to the school disciplinary absence decision are uploaded in OneSchool. |
| | ACCESS | Principal takes reasonable steps to arrange for the student to access an educational program to allow the student to continue with their education during the suspension. |

| Student is enrolled at the school | | CONSIDER | Principal considers whether the student's behaviour constitutes grounds for suspension as per section.282 of the <i>Education</i> (<i>General Provisions</i>) Act 2006. | | |
|-----------------------------------|--|----------|--|--|--|
| | | DOCUMENT | If the principal decides the behaviour meets one or more of the grounds for suspension under section.282 of the <i>Education</i> (<i>General Provisions</i>) Act 2006, they ensure documentation is completed to explain how they believe the student's behaviour meets the ground/s (e.g. explain how the behaviour constitutes misbehaviour). | | |
| | | REFLECT | Principal arranges for the student and parent to have the opportunity to view the relevant evidence under consideration about the behaviour (e.g. reports, statements, other documents, video/audio recordings noting that a copy of the recordings should not be provided to the student or parent but they should be invited to view/hear the recordings at the school or elsewhere before the suspension decision is made). | | |
| | | DISCUSS | Principal ensures the student and the parent are offered the opportunity to discuss the allegations with a school staff member and respond if they choose prior to the principal making a disciplinary decision. | | |
| | | DECIDE | Principal makes the disciplinary decision to progress or cease the suspension process, including the start and end date of the suspension if relevant. | | |
| | | NOTIFY | Principal or authorised officer tells the student and parent of the decision to suspend, the reasons for the suspension and the date on which it will commence, ensuring the suspension is completed in the current school year and does not extend over the summer holiday period into the new year. | | |
| | | ARRANGE | Principal takes reasonable steps to ensure that parents have made appropriate supervision arrangements prior to the student leaving the school grounds, or alternatively isolate and supervise the student until such arrangements are made. | | |
| | | APPOINT | Principal ensures a school staff member is appointed as the contact for the student and parent while suspension is in effect and ensures student and parent are advised of the contact information for this person. | | |
| | | NOTICE | Principal ensures a record for 11–20 day suspension is created and a decision notice is prepared in OneSchool, including details about how to make a submission against the suspension to the Director- General or delegate, and gives it to the student and parent as soon as practicable. | | |
| | | RECORD | Principal ensures signed copies of decision notice (approved forms) and supporting materials relating to the school disciplinary absence decision are uploaded in OneSchool. | | |
| | | ACCESS | Principal takes reasonable steps to arrange for the student to access an educational program to allow the student to continue with their education during the suspension. | | |
| | | | Oueensland | | |

Flowchart: Suspensions (charge related)



* At any time throughout the charge-related suspension, the principal may seek an update on the status of the student's charges through an additional request to the Director-General to **obtain information from the Queensland Police Commissioner**.



Appendix 16 – Bullying response flowchart for teachers

Please note these timelines may be adjusted depending on the unique circumstances and risk associated with each situation. This is at the professional judgment of the staff involved. A vast majority of the information gathering may be able to occur on the same day as notification if timescales allow. Timeframes should be clearly discussed and agreed with student and family.

Key contacts for students and parents to report bullying: Prep to Year 6 – Class teacher

Prep to Year 2 Deputy Principal – Tina Houtsma

- Provide a safe, quiet space to talk
- Reassure the student that you will listen to them
- Let them share their experience and feelings without interruption
- If you hold immediate concerns for the student's safety, let the student
- Ask the student for examples they have of the alleged bullying (e.g. hand written notes or screenshots)
- Write a record of your communication with the student
- Check back with the student to ensure vou have the facts correct
- Gather additional information from other students, staff or family
- Review any previous reports or records for students involved
- Make sure you can answer who, what, where, when and how
- Evaluate the information to determine if bullying has occurred or if another disciplinary matter is at issue
- Make a time to meet with the student to discuss next steps
- Ask the student what they believe will help address the situation
- Provide the student and parent with information about student support
- Document the plan of action in OneSchool
- Complete all actions agreed with student and parent within agreed timeframes
- Meet with the student to review situation
- Discuss what has changed, improved or worsened
- Explore other options for strengthening student wellbeing or

75

Continue to check in with student on regular basis until concerns have been mitigated

. .

Queensland

Government

Record notes of follow-up meetings in OneSchool



Day five

Review

Ongoing

Follow up

First hour

In deciding a reasonable time to retain or make property available for collection, principals and school staff will consider the

- condition, nature or value of the property
- circumstances in which the property was removed
- safety of the student from whom the property was removed, other students or staff members
- good management, administration and control of the school.

COMMUNICATION of expectations

School staff provide students and parents with clear communication to inform what student property can be temporarily removed and the expectations in relation to property students may bring to school. This information should be provided on enrolment and reiterated regularly via the school's communications processes (e.g. newsletter).

IDENTIFICATION Inappropriate student property

School staff identify student property that is illegal, not compliant with <u>Student Code of Conduct</u> or puts the safety or wellbeing of others at risk.

REMOVAL of property School staff remove student property and store safely, noting that they are not authorised to open bags, unlock mobile phones or read, copy or delete messages stored on phones without the consent of the student or parent.

DETERMINE time to retain property

School staff determine what constitutes a reasonable time to retain student property.

RETURN of property

RETENTION of property Student property is made available for collection by student/ parent, or property is retained by school.

Property is retained if:

- not collected despite reasonable efforts
- it is suspected that student is not the lawful owner
- it is illegal to possess or threatens the safety or wellbeing of the school community
- provided to Queensland Police Service.